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PART I

Disclosure Regarding Forward Looking Statements

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains certain statements that may be considered forward-looking statements
within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended and Section 21E of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and such statements are subject to the safe harbor created by those sections and
the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, as amended.  All statements, other than statements of historical
or current fact, are statements that could be deemed forward-looking statements, including without limitation: any
projections of earnings, revenues, cash flows, dividends, capital expenditures, or other financial items; any statement
of plans, strategies, and objectives of management for future operations; any statements concerning proposed
acquisition plans, new services or developments; any statements regarding future economic conditions or
performance; and any statements of belief and any statement of assumptions underlying any of the foregoing. In this
Annual Report, statements relating to our ability to contain and reduce administrative and recruiting costs, our ability
to compete effectively in domestic and international markets, our ability to reduce future fuel consumption and our
future fuel expenses, our future purchased transportation expenses, driver and independent contractor compensation,
future costs of maintenance and operations, our future tax rates, assets, and liabilities, our future ability to recruit and
retain drivers and independent contractors, expected liquidity, planned allocation of capital, future depreciation and
gains on sale of equipment, future insurance and claims expenses, expected capital expenditures, expected customer
concentration, future financing of equipment additions, future laws and regulations, future currency rates, future use of
treasury stock, future recognition of restricted stock, future asset utilization, future trucking capacity, expected freight
demand and volumes, future rates, our future ability to fund operating expenses, and future sources and costs of
liquidity, among others, are forward-looking statements. Such statements may be identified by their use of terms or
phrases such as "believe," "may," "could," "expects," "estimates," "projects," "anticipates," "plans," "intends," and
similar terms and phrases.  Forward-looking statements are based on currently available operating, financial, and
competitive information. Forward-looking statements are inherently subject to risks and uncertainties, some of which
cannot be predicted or quantified, which could cause future events and actual results to differ materially from those set
forth in, contemplated by, or underlying the forward-looking statements.  Factors that could cause or contribute to
such differences include, but are not limited to, those discussed in the section entitled "Item 1A. Risk Factors," set
forth below. Readers should review and consider the factors discussed in "Item 1A. Risk Factors," along with various
disclosures in our press releases, stockholder reports, and other filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

All such forward-looking statements speak only as of the date of this Annual Report. You are cautioned not to place
undue reliance on such forward-looking statements. We expressly disclaim any obligation or undertaking to release
publicly any updates or revisions to any forward-looking statements contained herein to reflect any change in our
expectations with regard thereto or any change in the events, conditions, or circumstances on which any such
statement is based.

All forward-looking statements attributable to us, or persons acting on our behalf, are expressly qualified in their
entirety by this cautionary statement.

References to the "Company", "Celadon", "we", "us", "our" and words of similar import refer to Celadon Group, Inc.
and its consolidated subsidiaries.

Item 1.                 Business

Introduction
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We are one of North America's largest truckload freight transportation providers.  Our primary services involve
point-to-point shipping for major customers within the Unites States, between the United States and Mexico, and
between the United States and Canada.  We complement these services with a variety of warehousing, supply chain
logistics, tractor leasing, and other services that we believe add value to our customers and professional truck
drivers.  Since our 2012 fiscal year, we have expanded our business and diversified our service offerings substantially,
primarily through a series of acquisitions.

We operate our business through two reportable segments: our primary segment, which we refer to as "asset based,"
and a small but growing segment we refer to as "asset light."  Asset based services generally require greater ongoing
net capital expenditures because we provide them using our own tractors and trailers or other assets.  Asset light
services generally require less ongoing net capital expenditures because we contract with third parties, such as other
trucking companies, railroads, or warehouse owners, to provide all or a substantial portion of the assets needed to
provide the service.  We believe a combination of asset based and asset light services affords us the opportunity to
increase our size, diversification of revenue streams, and importance to customers while managing our expected
ongoing net capital expenditures and improving our return on invested capital.

3
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Our primary asset based services include United States domestic dry van, refrigerated, and flatbed service;
cross-border service between the United States and each of Mexico and Canada; intra-Mexico and intra-Canada
service; dedicated contract service; regional and specialized short haul service; and rail intermodal service.  We
generate a substantial portion of our asset based revenue from services provided internationally (in Mexico or Canada
or cross-border), and we believe the size of our international operations and expertise with the unique regulatory and
logistical requirements of each North American country provide a competitive advantage in the international trucking
marketplace.  In addition, through our Quality Companies subsidiaries, we provide tractor leasing and ancillary
services to owner-operators who contract with us or with other trucking companies.  We have grown the Quality
Companies significantly during fiscal 2015, and we intend to continue to do so.

Our primary asset light services include freight brokerage, warehousing, less-than truckload consolidation, and supply
chain logistics services.  We believe these services afford us an opportunity to increase our scale and market share
with customers, serve customers' needs by covering more of their loads, retain control over freight even when it does
not meet our financial or operating objectives at the time, and concentrate our assets with the most beneficial loads.

Through a series of acquisitions, we have expanded our operations and service offerings both within the United States
and internationally. These acquisitions have contributed significantly to our improved lane density, freight mix, and
customer diversity, as well as helping us expand our international operations.

Operating and Sales Strategy

We approach our trucking operations as an integrated effort of marketing, customer service, and fleet management.
We have identified as priorities: gain truckload market share by leveraging our service offerings and customer
relationships; improve asset productivity through enhanced technology and investments in human capital; continue to
drive out costs and recognize synergies from previous acquisitions as we complete integrations; maintain our long
haul and international focus, while leveraging our expanded service offerings to our customers; and pursue strategic
acquisition opportunities on an opportunistic basis. To accomplish these objectives, we have sought to instill high
levels of discipline, cooperation, and trust between our operations and sales departments. As a part of this integrated
effort, our operations and sales departments have developed the following strategies, goals, and objectives:

· Seek high yielding freight from targeted industries, customers, regions, and lanes that improves our overall
network density and diversifies our customer and freight mix. We believe that we can improve our lane
density and equipment utilization and increase our average revenue per mile by focusing our sales resources
on targeted regions and lanes with an emphasis on cross-border or international movements and utilization
of primarily north-south shipping routes. Each piece of business has rate and productivity goals that are
designed to improve our overall yield management. We believe that by increasing the business we do with
shippers having less cyclicality in demand, our ability to improve rate per mile increases.

· Focus on asset productivity. Our primary productivity measure is revenue per tractor per week. Within
revenue per tractor we examine rates, non-revenue miles, and loaded miles per tractor. We actively analyze
customers and freight movements in an effort to enhance the revenue production of our tractors. We also
attempt to concentrate our equipment in defined operating lanes and dedicated operations to create more
predictable movements, reduce non-revenue miles, and shorten turn times between loads.

· Operate a modern fleet to reduce expenses and improve safety and driver retention. Our replacement cycle
for our tractors is approximately three years. This equipment renewal policy has allowed us to recognize
significant benefits associated with reduced maintenance and tire expenses, as such expenses increase
significantly for tractors beyond the third year of operation, as wear and tear increases and some warranties
expire. Considering the competitive market for qualified drivers, we believe that continually refreshing our
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· Continue our emphasis on service, safety, and technology. We offer just-in-time, time-definite and other
premium transportation services to meet the expectations of our service-oriented customers. We believe
that targeting premium service freight permits us to obtain higher rates, build long-term, service-based
customer relationships, and avoid competition from railroad, intermodal, and trucking companies that
compete primarily on the basis of price. We have made significant investments in technologies that are
intended to reduce costs, afford a competitive advantage with service-sensitive customers, be
environmentally friendly, and promote economies of scale. Examples of these technologies are Qualcomm
satellite-based tracking and communications systems, our proprietary CelaTrac system that enables
customers to track shipments and access other information via the Internet, and electronic document
imaging.

· Maintain our leading position in cross-border truckload shipments while offering diversified, nationwide
transportation services in the U.S. We believe our strategically located terminals and experience with the
languages, cultures, and border crossing requirements of all three North American countries provide us
with competitive advantages in the international trucking marketplace. As a result of these advantages, we
believe we are the industry leader in cross border truckload transportation between North American
countries. These cross-border shipments, which comprised 41% of our revenue in fiscal 2015, are balanced
by a strong and growing business with domestic freight.

· Seeking strategic acquisitions to broaden our existing operations. We have made 34 trucking company
acquisitions since 1995, including 11 acquisitions in the last two fiscal years, and we continue to evaluate
acquisition candidates. Our current acquisition strategy is focused on broadening our operations through the
addition of carriers that improve our lane density, customer diversity, and service offerings.

Other Services

Celadon Dedicated Services. We provide warehousing and dedicated trucking services through Celadon Dedicated
Services. Our warehouse facilities are located near our customers' manufacturing plants. We also transport the
manufacturing component parts to our warehouses and sequence those parts for our customers. We then transport
completed units from our customers' plants.  We also offer less-than-truckload, intermodal, and refrigerated services
to all our customers.

Quality Companies.  In March of 2014, we entered into a transaction with Element Financial Corp. ("Element"), under
which Element purchased our portfolio of independent contractor leases and will directly provide financing to our
independent contractors.   The portfolio was held in our Quality Companies business unit ("Quality").  Quality
diversifies our income stream by providing a suite of “tractors under management” services, which includes tractor
purchasing and sales, maintenance, loan and lease servicing, repossession, and other services to independent
contractor drivers and their finance providers.  Quality has grown significantly from 750 tractors under management at
the end of fiscal 2013 to 4,900 tractors under management at the end of fiscal 2015.  We believe Quality significantly
complements our core freight business lines for several reasons.  First, we believe the market for tractors under
management is growing faster than the general truckload freight market.  Second, our consolidated buying power,
warranty plans, maintenance experience, and insurance expertise allow us to provide a differentiated services suite to
independent contractors and third-party fleets that may not have capacity or desire to build these skill sets
internally.  Third, the Quality business, to the extent pursued off-balance sheet with financial partners such as
Element, has the prospect for more consistent margins, lower capital expenditures and higher return on invested
capital than our traditional truckload business.  Fourth, we are able to access an entrepreneurial and high-performing
segment of the professional truck driving population that otherwise may go unserved generally or untapped by us.  For
these reasons we have identified the continued growth of Quality as a strategic priority.
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Industry and Competition

The truckload market is defined by the quantity of goods, generally over 10,000 pounds, shipped by a single customer
point-to-point and is divided into several segments by the type of trailer used to transport the goods. These segments
include van, temperature-controlled, flatbed, and tank carriers. We compete in the North American van and
temperature-controlled truckload market. The markets within the United States, Canada, and Mexico are fragmented,
with thousands of competitors, none of whom dominate the market. Intense competition also exists to recruit and
retain qualified drivers. We believe that the current economic and regulatory pressures on the industry will continue to
force many smaller and private fleets to exit the industry, seek to be acquired, or to consolidate.

Conducting cross-border operations produces additional challenges. We are one of a limited number of trucking
companies that can maneuver this complicated cross-border mechanism, and we participate in all three segments of
this cross border market, providing or arranging for door-to-door transport service between points in the United States,
Canada, and Mexico. Transportation of goods by truck between the United States, Canada, and Mexico is subject to
international trade agreements. Transportation of goods between the United States or Canada and Mexico consists of
three components: (i) transportation from the point of origin to the Mexican border, (ii) transportation across the
border, and (iii) transportation from the border to the final destination. United States and Canadian carriers may
operate within both countries, but carriers are not allowed to operate within Mexico. Previously, Mexican carriers
were not allowed to operate within the United States except for a 26-kilometer, or approximately 16 miles, band along
the Mexican border. In 2015, the Federal Motor Carrier Safety Administration ("FMCSA") announced that Mexican
carriers could begin applying for authority to transport goods to and from the United States beyond the previously
authorized border zones.  United States carriers have been given reciprocal rights to operate in Mexico.  Trailer only
crossings will continue to be permitted.   We do not believe these changes will cause us to deviate from our model
with respect to our cross-border operations in the near term and we believe we are well positioned to compete
effectively in these markets.
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The truckload industry is highly competitive and fragmented. Although both service and price drive competition in the
premium long haul, time-sensitive portion of the market, we rely primarily on our high level of service and
responsiveness to attract customers. This strategy requires us to focus on market segments that employ just-in-time
inventory systems and other premium services. Our competitors for freight include other long-haul truckload carriers
and, to a lesser extent, shorter-haul truckload carriers and railroads. We also compete with other trucking companies
for the services of drivers, which has become increasingly difficult. Some of the truckload carriers with which we
compete have greater financial resources, operate more revenue equipment, and carry a larger volume of freight than
we do.

Customers

We target large service-sensitive customers with time-definite delivery requirements throughout the United States,
Canada, and Mexico. Our customers frequently ship in the north-south lanes (i.e., to and from locations in Mexico and
locations in the United States and Eastern Canada). We currently service approximately 2,500 customers. Our
premium service to these customers is enhanced by the ability to provide significant trailer capacity where needed,
state-of-the-art technology, well-maintained tractors and trailers, and 24/7 dispatch and reporting services. The
principal types of freight transported include tobacco, consumer goods, automotive parts, various home products and
fixtures, lawn tractors and assorted equipment, light bulbs, and various parts for engines. No customer accounted for
more than 10% of our total revenue during any of our three most recent fiscal years.

Drivers and Personnel

At June 30, 2015, we employed, in the U.S., Canada, and Mexico, 6,415 persons, of whom 4,496 were drivers, 339
were truck maintenance personnel, 1,198 were administrative personnel, and 382 were dedicated services personnel.
None of our U.S. or Canadian employees are represented by a union or a collective bargaining unit.

Driver recruitment, retention, and satisfaction are essential components of our success. We have experienced
increased competition to recruit and retain drivers as the economy continues to improve and qualified drivers are
presented with more employment opportunities. We expect the competition for qualified drivers to continue to
intensify, especially if demand for freight continues to increase. In addition, the requirements of the FMCSA's
Compliance, Safety, Accountability ("CSA") program have caused an additional increase in competition for qualified
drivers. Our drivers are selected in accordance with specific guidelines, relating primarily to safety records, driving
experience, and personal evaluations, including a physical examination and mandatory drug testing. Our drivers attend
an orientation program and ongoing driver efficiency and safety programs. An increase in driver turnover can have a
negative impact on our results of operations.

We created a driver training school to help offset the impact of the competitive market for drivers and the costs
associated with recruitment and driver turnover. Our training admits potential drivers who are not yet qualified to
drive commercially and are therefore not part of the existing driver market prior to attending our driver school. The
school's training program consists of a four-week classroom program and an additional six weeks of training with a
certified trainer. Upon successful completion of our training, students receive their Commercial Driver's License and
are qualified to drive for us. Following the success of our initial driver school, we have expanded our driver school to
include two other locations in the United States. We believe that our driving school has contributed to increased driver
recruitment and retention, and we believe turnover associated with drivers trained through our school is lower than
turnover associated with other student drivers.

In addition to drivers retained as employees, we also utilize the services of independent contractors who supply one or
more tractors and drivers to provide transportation services for us. Independent contractors pay their own tractor
expenses, fuel, maintenance, and driver costs and must meet our specified guidelines with respect to safety. Prior to
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which we would lease equipment to the independent contractor, with the lease payments being applied towards the
eventual purchase of the equipment.
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As of June 30, 2015, 1,191 independent contractors provide a combined 21.3% of our tractor capacity. If we are
successful in our continued efforts to recruit independent contractors, we anticipate that our utilization of independent
contractors will increase during fiscal 2016.

Revenue Equipment

Our equipment strategy is to utilize late-model tractors and high-capacity trailers, promptly replace older equipment
obtained through acquisitions, actively manage equipment throughout its life cycle, and employ a comprehensive
service and maintenance program to preserve equipment values and reduce maintenance costs.

We have determined that the average annual cost of maintenance and tires for tractors in our fleet rises substantially
after the first three years due to a combination of greater wear and tear and the expiration of some warranties. We
believe these costs increase towards the end of the trade cycle for our trailers as well. Recognizing the opportunity to
avoid the increased maintenance costs associated with aging equipment, we have adopted shorter upgrade cycles for
our tractors and trailers and continually focus on reducing the average age of our tractor and trailer fleets. While we
have succeeded in actively reducing the average age of our fleet, recent acquisitions have introduced older, less
efficient tractors into our fleet. We anticipate that we will achieve ongoing savings in maintenance and tire expense by
replacing tractors and trailers more often. In addition, we believe operating newer equipment will enhance our driver
recruiting and retention efforts. Accordingly, we seek to manage our tractor trade cycle to approximately three years
and our trailer trade cycle to approximately seven years.

The average age of our owned and leased tractors and trailers was approximately 1.2 years and 4.7 years, respectively,
at June 30, 2015. We utilize a comprehensive maintenance program to minimize downtime and control maintenance
costs. Centralized purchasing of spare parts and tires, and centralized control of over-the-road repairs are also used to
control costs.

Fuel

We purchase the majority of our fuel through a network of approximately 1,300 fuel stops throughout the United
States and Canada. We have negotiated discounted pricing based on certain volume commitments with these fuel
stops. We maintain bulk-fueling facilities in Indianapolis, Carlisle, Columbus, Warren, Gadsden, Wroxeter, Ontario
and Kitchener, Ontario to further reduce fuel costs.

Shortages of fuel, increases in prices, increased fuel consumption due to adverse weather, or rationing of petroleum
products can have a materially adverse effect on our operations and profitability. Fuel is subject to economic, political,
climatic, and market factors that are outside of our control. We have historically been able to recover a majority of
high fuel prices from customers in the form of fuel surcharges. However, a portion of the fuel expense increase is not
recovered due to several factors, including the base fuel price levels, which determine when surcharges are collected,
truck idling, and non-revenue miles. We cannot predict whether high fuel price levels will occur in the future or the
extent to which fuel surcharges will be collected to offset such increases.

Regulation

Our operations are regulated and licensed by various United States federal and state, Canadian provincial, and
Mexican federal agencies. Interstate motor carrier operations are subject to safety requirements prescribed by the
United States Department of Transportation ("DOT"). Matters such as weight and equipment dimensions are also
subject to United States federal and state regulation and Canadian provincial regulations. We operate in the United
States throughout the 48 contiguous states pursuant to operating authority granted by the DOT, in various Canadian
provinces pursuant to operating authority granted by the Ministries of Transportation and Communications in such
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provinces, and within Mexico pursuant to operating authority granted by Secretaria de Communiciones y Transportes.
To the extent that we conduct operations outside the United States, we are subject to the Foreign Corrupt Practices
Act, which generally prohibits United States companies and their intermediaries from bribing foreign officials for the
purpose of obtaining or retaining favorable treatment.
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The DOT, through the FMCSA, imposes certain fitness and safety requirements on us and our drivers. The FMCSA's
CSA initiative introduced a new enforcement and compliance model in 2010 under which drivers and fleets are
evaluated and ranked based on certain safety-related standards, including standards related to the safety performance
of the carrier's drivers.  The CSA's primary goal is to measure and evaluate the on-road safety performance of carriers
and drivers. These evaluations are aggregated and made accessible to the public through the FMCSA's Safety
Measurement System ("SMS"). CSA produces evaluations for each character in each safety-related category. Under
CSA, excessive violations in any category may lead to a carrier being prioritized for enforcement or
intervention.  Ongoing compliance with CSA's safety and fitness requirements may produce additional expenses or
result in a reduction in the number of eligible drivers. If current or potential drivers are eliminated from eligibility due
to continued implementation and enforcement of the CSA initiative, we may experience greater difficulty attracting
and retaining qualified drivers.

In December 2011, the FMCSA released its final rules regulating the hours-of-service ("HOS") requirements, which
placed certain restrictions on the length of time that drivers are allowed to operate and the manner in which they must
rest (the "2011 Rules"). The 2011 Rules reduced the maximum workweek for drivers from 82 to 70 hours and
mandated that drivers observe 30 minutes of off-duty time for every eight consecutive hours of driving. In addition,
once a driver has reached the weekly limitation, the 2011 Rules require a driver to utilize a modified "34-hour restart"
to reset the weekly limitation by resting for a continuous 34 hours (the "Modified Restart"). The Modified Restart
must include two periods between 1:00 a.m. and 5:00 a.m. and may only be used once every seven calendar days.  The
2011 Rules became effective in July 2013.

In December 2014, Congress passed the 2015 Omnibus Appropriations bill, which was signed into law December 16,
2014.  Among other things, the legislation provided temporary relief from the Modified Restart, and essentially
reverted back to the more straight forward 34-hour restart that was in effect previously.  All other 2011 Rules that
became effective in July 2013 have remained in effect. The temporary relief from the Modified Restart is set to expire
on September 30, 2015.

Since the 2011 Rules were made effective and during the time period that the Modified Restart was in effect, we do
not believe that our productivity has been or was materially impacted.  However, as we only had a limited period in
which to test the impact of the Modified Restart, it is possible that restoration of that rule this year may result in a
modest reduction in driver productivity.

Proposed rules mandating the installation and use of electronic logging devices ("ELDs") by nearly all carriers,
including us, to electronically monitor mileage and enforce the HOS requirements, were vacated by the 7th Circuit
Court of Appeals in 2011. In response, Congress passed legislation in July 2012 renewing the mandate, subject to new
regulations to be promulgated by DOT. Pursuant to this rulemaking authority, the FMCSA released a proposed rule
mandating ELD use, and expects to release a finalized rule by September 30, 2015. All of our tractors currently have
ELDs installed. We believe that any new regulations related to ELDs are unlikely to impact our operations or
profitability, although it is unclear how any new regulations will impact our use of ELDs. Furthermore, we believe
that more effective HOS enforcement after this rule is finalized may present challenges to smaller carriers, which may
improve our competitive position.

Our operations are also subject to various federal, state, and local environmental laws and regulations, implemented
principally by the Environmental Protection Agency ("EPA") and similar state regulatory agencies, governing the
management of hazardous wastes, other discharge of pollutants into the air and surface and underground waters, and
the disposal of certain substances. We do not believe that compliance with these regulations has a material effect on
our capital expenditures, earnings, or competitive position.
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In 2010, the EPA mandated that all new truck engines adhere to more stringent emissions standards. The cost of new
trucks has increased to offset the cost of compliance with these new regulations. In 2011, the EPA and National
Highway Traffic Safety Administration ("NHTSA") finalized regulations to reduce greenhouse gas emissions and
improve the fuel efficiency of heavy tractors by 20%. These new emission and fuel efficiency regulations apply to
model year 2014 to 2018 tractors.  The current executive administration has also called upon the EPA and NHTSA to
develop more stringent emission and fuel efficiency regulations by March 31, 2016, which will likely further increase
the costs of equipment manufactured in compliance with those regulations. In addition, California has adopted its own
fuel efficiency regulations for equipment transported within the state. The California regulations include the mandated
use of aerodynamic equipment on 53-foot or longer box-type trailers. Compliance with these federal and state
emission and fuel efficiency regulations has increased the cost of new equipment and may further increase the cost of
our equipment purchases in the future, both of which may lead to material increases in our operating costs and impact
our profitability.
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The Transportation Security Administration ("TSA") has adopted regulations that require determination by the TSA
that each driver who applies for or renews his or her license for carrying hazardous materials is not a security
threat.  This could reduce the pool of qualified drivers, which could require us to increase driver compensation, limit
our fleet growth, or result in trucks sitting idle.  These regulations also could complicate the matching of available
equipment with hazardous material shipments, thereby increasing our response time on customer orders and our
non-revenue miles.  As a result, it is possible we could fail to meet the needs of our customers or could incur increased
expenses to do so.

Cargo Liability, Insurance, and Legal Proceedings

We are a party to routine litigation incidental to our business, primarily involving claims for bodily injury or property
damage incurred in the transportation of freight. We self-insure personal injury and property damage claims for
amounts up to $1.5 million per occurrence. Management believes our uninsured exposure is reasonable for the
transportation industry, based on previous history.

We are also responsible for administrative expenses, for each occurrence involving personal injury or property
damage. We are also self-insured for the full amount of all our physical damage losses, for workers' compensation
losses up to $1.5 million per claim, and for cargo claims generally up to $100,000 per shipment. Subject to these
self-insured retention amounts, our current workers' compensation policy provides coverage up to a maximum per
claim amount of $10.0 million, and our current cargo loss and damage coverage provides coverage up to $1.0 million
per shipment. We maintain separate insurance in Mexico consisting of bodily injury and property damage coverage
with deductibles.

There are various claims, lawsuits, and pending actions against us and our subsidiaries that arise in the normal course
of business. We believe many of these proceedings are covered in whole or in part by insurance and that none of these
matters will have a materially adverse effect on our consolidated financial position or results of operations.

Seasonality

In the trucking industry, revenue generally decreases as customers reduce shipments during the winter holiday season
and as inclement weather impedes operations. At the same time, operating expenses generally increase, with fuel
efficiency declining because of engine idling and weather, creating more equipment repairs. For the reasons stated,
third fiscal quarter net income historically has been lower than net income in each of the other three quarters of the
year, excluding the impact of fuel surcharges. Our equipment utilization typically improves substantially between
May and October of each year because of seasonal increased shipping and better weather.

Internet Website

We maintain an Internet website where additional information concerning our business can be found. The address of
that website is www.celadontrucking.com. All of our reports filed with or furnished to the Securities and Exchange
Commission ("SEC") pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act, including our annual report on Form
10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, or current reports on Form 8-K, and amendments thereto are made available
free of charge on or through our Internet website as soon as reasonably practicable after such reports are electronically
filed with or furnished to the SEC. Information contained on our website is not incorporated into this Annual Report
on Form 10-K, and you should not consider information contained on our website to be part of this report.

9

Edgar Filing: CELADON GROUP INC - Form 10-K

17



Table of Contents

Item 1A.                      Risk Factors

Our future results may be affected by a number of factors over which we have little or no control. The following
issues, uncertainties, and risks, among others, should be considered in evaluating our business and growth outlook.

Our business is subject to general economic and business factors that are largely out of our control, any of which
could have a materially adverse effect on our operating results.

Our business depends on a number of factors that may have a materially adverse effect on our results of operations,
many of which are beyond our control. Some of the most significant of these factors include excess tractor and trailer
capacity in the trucking industry, declines in the resale value of used equipment, strikes or work stoppages, work
slowdowns at our facilities or at customer, port, border crossing, or other shipping related facilities, increases in
interest rates, fuel taxes, tolls, and license and registration fees, rising costs of healthcare, and fluctuations in foreign
exchange rates.

We are also affected by recessionary economic cycles, changes in customers’ inventory levels, and downturns in our
customers’ business cycles, particularly in market segments and industries, such as retail and manufacturing, where we
have significant customer concentration, and regions of the country, such as Texas and the Midwest, where we have a
significant amount of business. Economic conditions may adversely affect our customers and their demand for and
ability to pay for our services. Customers encountering adverse economic conditions represent a greater potential for
loss and we may be required to increase our allowance for doubtful accounts. These economic conditions may
adversely affect our ability to execute our strategic plan.

In addition, we cannot predict future economic conditions, consumer confidence, the economic impact of actual or
threatened armed conflicts or terrorist attacks, efforts to combat terrorism, military action against a foreign state or
group located in a foreign state, or heightened security requirements. Enhanced security measures could impair our
operating efficiency and productivity and result in higher operating costs.

We operate in a highly competitive and fragmented industry and our business may suffer if we are unable to
adequately address downward pricing pressures and other results of competition.

Numerous competitive factors present in our industry could impair our ability to maintain or improve our current
profitability. These factors include the following:

· We compete with many other truckload carriers of varying sizes and, to a lesser extent, with
less-than-truckload carriers, railroads, and other transportation and logistics companies, many of which
have access to more equipment and greater capital resources than we do.

· Many of our competitors periodically reduce their freight rates to gain business, especially during times of
reduced growth rates in the economy, which may limit our ability to maintain or increase freight rates or
maintain significant growth in our business.

· Many customers reduce the number of carriers they use by selecting so-called "core carriers" as approved
service providers or by engaging dedicated providers, and in some instances we may not be selected.

· Many customers periodically accept bids from multiple carriers for their shipping needs, and this process
may depress freight rates or result in the loss of some business to competitors.

·
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The trend toward consolidation in the trucking industry may create other large carriers with greater
financial resources and other competitive advantages relating to their size.

· The market for qualified drivers is increasingly competitive, and our inability to attract and retain drivers
could reduce our utilization or cause us to increase compensation, both of which would adversely affect our
profitability.

· Competition from non-asset based logistics and freight brokerage companies may adversely affect our
customer relationships and freight rates.

· Economies of scale that may be passed on to smaller carriers by procurement aggregation providers may
improve their ability to compete with us.
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Increases in driver compensation or difficulty in attracting and retaining drivers could affect our profitability and
ability to grow.

The trucking industry experiences substantial difficulty in attracting and retaining qualified drivers, including
independent contractors. The shortage of qualified drivers is exacerbated by several factors, including the availability
of alternative jobs, intense competition for drivers from other trucking companies, and the impact of regulatory
initiatives, including CSA and new hours-of-service regulations. The competitive market for drivers has impacted our
ability to increase our utilization and has resulted in us pursuing alternative methods to attract new employees, such as
our driver school. In addition, economic conditions such as the cost and availability of fuel, insurance, tractors, and
financing can negatively impact the available pool of independent contractor drivers. Our continued success is
dependent on our ability to also engage a sufficient number of independent contractors, and our inability to do so may
negatively impact our operations. Further, the compensation we offer our drivers and independent contractors is
subject to market conditions, and we may find it necessary to increase driver and independent contractor
compensation in future periods. A high turnover rate and competitive market for drivers and independent contractors
requires us to continually recruit a substantial number of drivers and independent contractors and to focus on
alternative recruitment methods in order to operate existing revenue equipment. If we are unable to continue to attract
and retain a sufficient number of drivers and independent contractors, including through our driver school, we could
be required to adjust our compensation packages, let trucks sit idle, or operate with fewer trucks and face difficulty
meeting shipper demands, all of which would reduce our ability to serve our customers and would adversely affect our
growth and profitability.

If our independent contractors are deemed by regulators or judicial process to be employees, our business and results
of operations could be adversely affected.

Regulatory authorities and plaintiffs in certain jurisdictions have asserted that independent contractor drivers in the
trucking industry are employees, rather than independent contractors, for a variety of purposes, including income tax
withholding, workers’ compensation, wage and hour compensation unemployment, and other issues.  Federal
legislation has been introduced in the past that would make it easier for tax and other authorities to reclassify
independent contractors as employees, including legislation to increase the recordkeeping requirements for those that
engage independent contractor drivers and to increase the penalties for companies who misclassify their employees
and are found to have violated employees’ overtime and/or wage requirements.  Additionally, federal legislators have
sought to abolish the current safe harbor allowing taxpayers meeting certain criteria to treat individuals as independent
contractors if they are following a long-standing, recognized practice, extend the Fair Labor Standards Act to
independent contractors, and impose notice requirements based on employment or independent contractor status and
fines for failure to comply.  Some states have put initiatives in place to increase their revenue from items such as
unemployment, workers’ compensation, and income taxes, and a reclassification of independent contractors as
employees would help states with this initiative.  In addition, owner-operators occasionally bring lawsuits against
motor carriers alleging that they are employees and seeking employment and unemployment benefits.  Taxing and
other regulatory authorities and courts apply a variety of standards in their determination of independent contractor
status.  If our independent contractors are determined to be employees, we would incur additional exposure under
federal and state tax, workers’ compensation, unemployment benefits, labor, employment, and tort laws, including for
prior periods, as well as potential liability for employee benefits and tax withholdings.

Ongoing insurance and claims expenses could significantly affect our earnings.

Our business results in a substantial number of claims and litigation related to personal injuries, property damage,
workers’ compensation, employment issues, health care, and other issues.  We self-insure for a significant portion of
our claims exposure, which could increase the volatility of, and decrease the amount of, our earnings. Our future
insurance and claims expenses may exceed historical levels, which could reduce our earnings. We currently accrue
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amounts for liabilities based on our assessment of claims that arise and our insurance coverage for the periods in
which the claims arise and we evaluate and revise these accruals from time-to-time based on additional
information.  Because of our significant self-insured amounts, we have exposure to fluctuations in the number and
severity of claims and the risk of being required to accrue or pay additional amounts if our estimates are revised or the
claims ultimately prove to be more severe than originally assessed.

11

Edgar Filing: CELADON GROUP INC - Form 10-K

21



Table of Contents

We maintain insurance for most risks above the amounts for which we self-insure.  If any claim were to exceed our
coverage, or fall outside the coverage, we would bear the excess or uncovered amount, in addition to our other
self-insured amounts. If insurance carriers raise our premiums, our insurance and claims expense could increase, or we
could find it necessary to again raise our self-insured retention or decrease our aggregate coverage limits when our
policies are renewed or replaced. Our operating results and financial condition could be materially and adversely
affected if these expenses increase, if we experience a claim in excess of our coverage limits, or if we experience a
claim for which we do not have coverage.

We derive a significant portion of our revenue from our major customers, the loss of one or more of which could have
a materially adverse effect on our business.

A significant portion of our revenue is generated from our major customers. For fiscal 2015, our top 10 customers,
based on revenue, accounted for approximately 21.5% of our revenue. We do not expect this percentage to change
materially for fiscal 2016. Generally, we do not have long-term contractual relationships with our major customers,
and we cannot provide assurance that our customers will continue to use our services or that they will continue at the
same levels. A reduction in or termination of our services by one or more of our major customers could have a
materially adverse effect on our business and operating results.

Our revenue growth may not continue at historical rates, which could adversely affect our stock price.

Our revenue growth over the past five years has been attributable to an improving economic and freight pricing
environment, acquisitions, and expansions of our suite of services.  Economic weakness, a failure to consummate
acquisitions, disposing of a business line (such as our prior disposition of Truckers B2B), or failure to attract and
retain sufficient drivers could lead to a reduction in our revenue growth or lower revenue. Slower revenue growth
could adversely affect our stock price.

We operate in a highly regulated industry and increased costs of compliance with, or liability for violation of, existing
or future regulations could have a materially adverse effect on our business.

Our operations are regulated and licensed by various U.S., Canadian, and Mexican agencies. Our drivers and
independent contractors also must comply with the safety and fitness regulations of the DOT, including those relating
to drug and alcohol testing and hours-of-service. Such matters as weight and equipment dimensions are also subject to
U.S. and Canadian regulations. We also may become subject to new or more restrictive regulations relating to fuel
emissions, drivers’ hours-of-service, ergonomics, or other matters affecting safety or operating methods. Other
agencies, such as the EPA and the Department of Homeland Security also regulate our equipment, operations, and
drivers. Future laws and regulations may be more stringent and require changes in our operating practices, influence
the demand for transportation services, or require us to incur significant additional costs. Higher costs incurred by us
or by our suppliers who pass the costs onto us through higher prices could adversely affect our results of operations.
The Regulation section in Item 1 of Part I of this Annual Report on Form 10-K discusses several proposed and final
regulations that could materially impact our business and operations.

The DOT’s CSA program could adversely affect our profitability and operations, our ability to maintain or grow our
fleet, and our customer relationships.

Under CSA, drivers and fleets are evaluated based on certain safety-related standards.  Carriers’ safety and fitness
ratings under CSA include the on-road safety performance of the carrier’s drivers. As a result of these increased
standards, drivers who do not meet such standards are not eligible to drive for us. If we experience safety and fitness
violations, our fleet could be ranked poorly as compared to our peers, and our safety and fitness scores could be
adversely impacted. A reduction in our safety and fitness scores or those of our drivers could also reduce our
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competitiveness in relation to other companies who retain higher scores. Additionally, competition for drivers with
favorable safety ratings may increase and thus provide for increases in driver related compensation costs.

Future fitness and safety violations may cause us to exceed the intervention threshold in one or more of the safety and
fitness categories evaluated under CSA. If this were to occur we may be prioritized for an intervention action or
roadside inspection, either of which could adversely affect our results of operations. Failure to cure any such
deficiency could cause high-quality drivers to seek other carriers or could cause our customers to direct their business
away from us and to carriers with higher fleet rankings, either of which would adversely affect our results of
operations. Currently, we are exceeding the established intervention thresholds in one of the seven safety-related
Behavioral Analysis and Safety Improvement Categories ("BASIC") categories of CSA, in comparison to our peer
group; however, we continue to maintain a satisfactory rating with the DOT. In the past from time to time we have
exceeded BASIC category thresholds and have worked to monitor and improve scores below intervention
levels.  Exceeding the established intervention thresholds in additional BASIC categories may result in another
compliance review or the prioritization of roadside inspections, either of which may adversely affect our results of
operations.
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We may not make acquisitions in the future or, if we do, we may not be successful in our acquisition strategy.

We have pursued an aggressive acquisition strategy in recent years, having made approximately thirty-four
acquisitions since 1995, and approximately eleven since the beginning of fiscal 2014. Accordingly, acquisitions have
provided a substantial portion of our growth. There is no assurance that we will be successful in identifying,
negotiating, or consummating any future acquisitions. If we fail to make any future acquisitions, our growth rate could
be materially and adversely affected.

Any acquisitions that we undertake could be difficult to integrate, disrupt our business, dilute stockholder value and
adversely affect our results of operations.

Acquisitions involve numerous risks, including the following:

· failure of the acquired company to achieve anticipated revenues, earnings, or cash flows;

· dilutive issuance of equity securities and/or incurring indebtedness;

· the assumption of liabilities, including undisclosed liabilities and liabilities that exceed our estimates;

· inability to negotiate effective indemnification protection from the seller, or inability to collect in the event
of an indemnity claim;

· problems integrating the purchased operations with our own, which could result in substantial costs and
delays or other operational, technical, or financial problems;

· potential compliance issues with regard to acquired companies that did not have adequate internal controls;

· diversion of management’s attention or other resources from our existing business;

· risks associated with entering markets or business lines in which we have had no or limited prior
experience;

· increases in working capital and capital expenditure investment to fund the growth of acquired operations;

· potential loss of customers, key employees, drivers, and independent contractors of the acquired company;
and

· future write-offs of intangible and other assets if the acquired operations fail to generate sufficient cash
flows.

If we make acquisitions in the future, there is no assurance that operations, assets, and personnel of the acquired
operations will be successfully and profitably integrated into our existing business.

We have significant ongoing capital requirements that could affect our profitability if we are unable to generate
sufficient cash from operations and obtain financing on favorable terms.

The trucking industry is capital intensive, and our policy of operating newer equipment requires us to expend
significant amounts annually. If we elect to expand our fleet in future periods, our capital needs would increase. We
expect to pay for projected capital expenditures with a combination of capital and operating leases, cash flows from
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operations, and borrowings under our line of credit. If we are unable to generate sufficient cash from operations and
obtain financing on favorable terms in the future, we may have to limit our growth, enter into less favorable financing
arrangements, or operate our revenue equipment for longer periods, any of which could have a materially adverse
effect on our profitability.
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Fluctuations in the price or availability of fuel, as well as hedging activities, surcharge collection, and the volume and
terms of diesel fuel purchase commitments may increase our cost of operation, which could materially and adversely
affect our profitability.

Fuel is one of our largest operating expenses. Diesel fuel prices fluctuate greatly due to economic, political, climatic,
and other factors beyond our control. Fuel is also subject to regional pricing differences and often costs more on the
West Coast, where we have significant operations. From time-to-time we have used fuel surcharges, hedging
contracts, and volume purchase arrangements to attempt to limit the effect of price fluctuations. Although we seek to
recover a portion of the short-term increases in fuel prices from customers through fuel surcharges, these
arrangements do not fully offset the increase in the cost of diesel fuel and also may result in us not receiving the full
benefit of any fuel price decreases. Fluctuations in fuel prices, a shortage of diesel fuel, or increased consumption due
to adverse weather could materially and adversely affect our results of operations.

If we cannot effectively manage the challenges associated with doing business internationally, our revenues and
profitability may suffer.

A significant portion of our revenue is derived from our international operations, and our success is dependent upon
our operations in Mexico and Canada. Our international operations are subject to a variety of risks, including
fluctuations in foreign currencies, changes in the economic strength of the foreign countries in which we do business,
difficulties in enforcing contractual obligations and intellectual property rights, compliance burdens associated with a
wide variety of international and United States export and import laws, and social, political, and economic instability.
Our international business could be adversely affected by restrictions on travel to any of our three countries of
operations due to a health epidemic or outbreak, and any such epidemic or outbreak may adversely affect demand for
freight. Additional risks associated with our foreign operations include restrictive trade policies, imposition of duties,
taxes, or government royalties by foreign governments, and compliance with the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and
local anti-bribery law compliance. Pursuant to an agreement between the United States and Mexico, cross-border
movements for both United States and Mexican-based carriers into the United States and Mexico are now allowed,
which presents an additional risk in the form of the potential for increased competition in Mexico and the risk of
increased congestion on our cross-border lanes. In addition, we could be subject to additional regulatory risks related
to the use of Mexican drivers through our Mexico subsidiary for shipments into the United States.

Increased prices, reduced productivity, reduced demand for our used equipment, and restricted availability of new
revenue equipment may adversely affect our earnings and cash flows.

We have experienced higher prices for new tractors over the past few years, attributable to government regulations
applicable to newly manufactured tractors and diesel engines, higher commodity prices, and better pricing power
among equipment manufacturers. EPA emissions standards that went into effect in 2010 are more stringent than prior
standards and have required the introduction of new, more expensive engines, and future emission reduction
regulations may require vendors to further modify new equipment which may lead to further increases in cost. Our
business could be harmed if we are unable to continue to obtain an adequate supply of new tractors and trailers for
these or other reasons. As a result, we expect to continue to pay increased prices for equipment and incur additional
expenses and related financing costs for the foreseeable future. Furthermore, reduced equipment efficiency and lower
fuel mileage may result from new engines designed to reduce emissions, therefore, increase our operating expenses.
Our decision to shorten our equipment upgrade cycle may increase the impact of higher equipment cost on our
profitability.

As we continually replace our equipment and occasionally seek to dispose of outdated equipment obtained through
our acquisitions, we rely on the used equipment market to extract remaining value out of our used equipment. The
market for used equipment is impacted by several factors, including the demand for freight, the supply of used
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equipment, and the availability of financing. A deterioration of demand for used equipment could make it more
difficult to dispose of and replace older equipment and may reduce our ability to refresh our fleet and dispose of less
fuel efficient equipment obtained through acquisitions, both of which could negatively impact our profitability.
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Our operations are subject to various environmental laws and regulations, the violation of which could result in
substantial fines or penalties.

In addition to the regulation of our drivers under CSA, our transportation activities are regulated by the DOT and
other agencies. These regulations include weight and equipment requirements, operating methods, safety rules, and
other regulations. In addition to direct regulation under the DOT and related agencies, we are subject to various
environmental laws and regulations dealing with the hauling and handling of hazardous materials, fuel storage tanks,
air emissions from our vehicles and facilities, and discharge and retention of storm water. We operate in industrial
areas where truck terminals and other industrial activities are located, and where groundwater or other forms of
environmental contamination are possible. Our operations involve the risks of fuel spillage or seepage, environmental
damage, and hazardous waste disposal, among others. We also maintain underground bulk fuel storage tanks and
fueling islands at several of our facilities. A small percentage of our freight consists of low-grade hazardous
substances, which subjects us to an additional array of regulations. A spill or other accident involving hazardous
substances, releases of hazardous substances we transport, or a finding that we are in violation of environmental laws
or regulations could subject us to liabilities that could have a materially adverse effect on our business and operating
results. If we should fail to comply with applicable environmental regulations, we could be subject to substantial fines
or penalties and to civil and criminal liability.

In 2010, stricter fuel efficiency and emissions standards were mandated by the EPA. In 2011, the EPA and NHTSA
proposed further efficiency and emissions standards that went into effect in 2014. These new standards include a
mandated 20% improvement in fuel economy by 2018. Engines meeting new emissions standards generally cost more
and require additional maintenance compared with earlier models. Compliance with such regulations has increased the
cost of our new tractors and could increase our operating expenses.

Concern over climate change, including the impact of global warming, has led to legislative and regulatory efforts to
limit greenhouse gas emissions. Regulatory and legislative activity in this area has increased, and future emission
regulations or legislation are possible. Regulations related to climate change that potentially impose restrictions, caps,
taxes, or other controls on emissions of greenhouse gases could adversely affect our operations and financial
results.  More specifically, legislative or regulatory actions related to climate change could adversely impact us by
increasing our fuel costs and reducing fuel efficiency and could result in the creation of substantial additional capital
expenditures and operating costs in the form of taxes, emissions allowances, or required equipment upgrades.  Until
the timing, scope, and extent of any future regulation becomes known, we cannot predict its effect on our cost
structure or our operating results; however, any future regulation could impair our operating efficiency and
productivity and result in higher operating costs.

If we are unable to retain our key employees, our business, financial condition, and results of operations could be
adversely affected.

We are highly dependent upon the services of certain key employees, including, but not limited to: Paul Will, our
Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board; William E. Meek, our President and Chief Operating Officer; and
Bobby Peavler, our Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer. The loss of their services could negatively
impact our operations and future profitability.

Seasonality and the impact of weather affect our operations and profitability.

Our tractor productivity decreases during the winter season because inclement weather impedes operations, and some
shippers reduce their shipments after the winter holiday season. Revenue can also be affected by bad weather and
holidays, since revenue is directly related to available working days of shippers. At the same time, operating expenses
increase, with fuel efficiency declining because of engine idling and harsh weather creating higher accident frequency,
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increased claims, and more equipment repairs. The impact of adverse weather events, including short-term impacts
from weather-related events such as hurricanes, blizzards, ice storms, and floods, could diminish our profitability or
make our operating results more volatile.

Our business is subject to certain credit factors affecting the trucking industry that are largely out of our control and
that could have a materially adverse effect on our operating results.

If the economy and credit markets weaken, our business, financial results, and results of operations could be
materially and adversely affected, especially if consumer confidence declines and domestic spending decreases. We
may need to incur additional indebtedness or issue debt or equity securities in the future to fund working capital
requirements, make investments, or for general corporate purposes. If the credit and equity markets were to erode, our
ability to do so may be constrained. A decline in the credit or equity markets or any increase in volatility could make it
more difficult for us to obtain financing and may lead to an adverse impact on our profitability and operations.
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Our primary credit agreement contains certain covenants, restrictions, and requirements, and we may be unable to
comply with the covenants, restrictions, and requirements. A default could result in the acceleration of all or part of
our outstanding indebtedness, which could have an adverse effect on our financial condition, liquidity, results of
operations, and the price of our common stock.

We have financing arrangements that contain certain restrictions and covenants relating to, among other things,
dividends, liens, acquisitions and dispositions outside of the ordinary course of business, affiliate transactions, and
financial covenants. If we fail to comply with any of our financing arrangement covenants, restrictions, and
requirements, we will be in default under the relevant agreement, which could cause the acceleration of our
obligations under such agreement.  Deterioration in the credit markets may make it difficult or expensive to refinance
accelerated debt or we may have to issue equity securities, which would dilute stock ownership.  Even if new
financing is made available to us, the current lack of available credit and consequent more stringent borrowing terms
may mean that credit is not available to us on acceptable terms. A default under our financing arrangements could
cause a materially adverse effect on our liquidity, financial condition, and results of operations. See the Primary Credit
Agreement section in Item 7 of Part II of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional information on our primary
credit agreement.

Our level of indebtedness could adversely affect our financial condition and our ability to fulfill our obligations and
operate our business.

We have a significant amount of debt and our ongoing capital needs are extensive.  Our indebtedness could result in
the following consequences:

· increased vulnerability to general adverse economic and industry conditions;

· increased vulnerability to interest rate increases on our variable rate debt;

· commitment of a substantial portion of cash flow from operations to payments on indebtedness, thereby
reducing the availability of cash flow to fund working capital, capital expenditures, acquisitions, and other
general corporate purposes;

· limit flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business;

· place us at a competitive disadvantage relative to competitors that have less debt; and

· limit our ability to borrow additional funds.

The rapid growth of our Quality Companies business unit and our reliance on the financing arrangement with Element
Financial Corporation pose unique risks.

Our Quality Companies business unit offers "tractors under management" to independent contractors, motor carrier
fleets, and financing sources.  Quality’s services include tractor purchasing and sales, driver recruiting, lease payment
remittance, insurance, maintenance, and other services.  A portion of the tractors under management are contracted to
Celadon by independent contractors who drive for us.  The remaining tractors are contracted to other fleets.  Quality’s
business has grown rapidly, from 750 tractors under management at June 30, 2013, to 4,900 tractors under
management at June 30, 2015.  Additionally, Quality has placed initial orders for 13,000 tractors scheduled for
delivery over the next several years, at an aggregate estimated purchase price in excess of $1.5 billion.
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Since March of 2014, Quality has placed the majority of its tractors under management through a Program Agreement
and Service Agreement with Element.  Pursuant to these agreements, we use our volume purchasing power to
purchase tractors on favorable pricing terms, which we then sell to Element.  We believe Element acquires
substantially all of these tractors through the incurrence of debt.  We then refer our independent contractor drivers to
Element, who leases tractors to such independent contractors or finances the drivers’ purchase of tractors.  Element has
credit profile, customer concentration, and other business goals and restrictions, and may not grow, or even continue
to finance tractors.  If Element curtails its participation in this arrangement, Quality’s business would be adversely
affected.  In addition, Quality’s operations pose several unique risks, including the following:

· In general, Quality’s tractor purchase orders do not become "firm commitment" orders for which we are
irrevocably obligated until shortly before purchase.  However, our failure to consummate these orders could
have a material adverse effect on our growth prospects.  We may be unsuccessful in locating or reaching
agreeable terms with third parties to purchase tractors from us in a volume that is adequate to meet Quality’s
current or anticipated operations.

· Element or other third parties may be unable to obtain sufficient financing to acquire from us the volume of
tractors that we plan to purchase and resell.  This may require us to finance the acquisition of such tractors
with our own indebtedness, which could substantially increase our indebtedness, require dilutive issuance
of securities, or both.  Alternatively, we could be forced to inhibit Quality’s growth.  Further, there can be
no assurance that we will be able to obtain such direct financing on favorable terms or at all.

· Historically the markets for new and used tractors have been volatile.  A change in these markets could
negatively impact the price at which Quality is able to acquire and sell tractors, negatively impact Quality’s
ability to resell tractors at a profit, and negatively impact the interests of Element and other financing
sources in purchasing the tractors and providing financing.

· If a change in accounting rules or other unforeseen circumstances prevents us from using our intended
accounting treatment for the Element arrangements or similar arrangements we may be required to include
the related equipment debt in our consolidated results of operations even though we are not primarily
obligated on and do not guarantee such debt.  This could materially and adversely affect our results of
operations and stock price.

· We are not obligated to make payments in respect of the leases or financing provided by Element to the
independent contractors.  However, under certain circumstances we may be required to take certain actions
to recover the vehicle, find a new driver, repair the vehicle, or prepare it for service. We also may be
required to repurchase certain leases or financings from Element upon Quality’s uncured material breach of
the Program Agreement.  We expect that it would be difficult to recoup the costs associated with these
actions, especially if there were a decline in the used equipment market.

· We may experience reputational or commercial pressure from financing sources and suppliers to protect
them against or reimburse them for losses relating to our arrangement with Element or similar
arrangements, even if we are not legally obligated to do so.

· We may experience commercial pressure from Element or other third parties with whom we enter into
similar arrangements to add additional driver recruiting, truck maintenance and repossession, or other
services, any of which could increase our costs.

We depend on the proper functioning and availability of our information systems and a system failure could cause a
significant disruption to our business and have a materially adverse effect on our results of operations.
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We depend on the proper functioning and availability of our information systems, including financial reporting and
operating systems, in operating our business. Our operating system is critical to understanding customer demands,
accepting and planning loads, dispatching equipment and drivers, and billing and collecting for our services. Our
financial reporting system is critical to producing accurate and timely financial statements and analyzing business
information to help us manage effectively. If any of our critical information systems fail or become otherwise
unavailable, whether as a result of the upgrade project or otherwise, we would have to perform the functions
manually, which could temporarily impact our ability to manage our fleet efficiently, to respond to customers' requests
effectively, to maintain billing and other records reliably, and to bill for services and prepare financial statements
accurately or in a timely manner. Our business interruption insurance may be inadequate to protect us in the event of
an unforeseeable and extreme catastrophe. Any system failure, delays, or complications, security breach, or other
system failure could interrupt or delay our operations, damage our reputation, cause us to lose customers, or impact
our ability to manage our operations and report our financial performance, any of which could have a materially
adverse effect on our business.
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Item 1B.              Unresolved Staff Comments

None.

Item 2.                 Properties

We operate a network of 36 terminal locations, including facilities in Laredo and El Paso, Texas, which are the two
largest inland freight gateway cities between the U.S. and Mexico, and four locations in Canada. Our operating
terminals currently are located in the following cities:

United States Mexico Canada
Dal las ,  TX
(Owned)

Guadalajara
(Leased)

K i t c h ene r ,
ON (Leased)

El Paso, TX
(Owned)

Mexico City
(Leased)

W r o x e t e r ,
ON (Owned)

Kernersville,
NC (Leased)

Monterrey
(Leased)

W i n n i p e g ,
MB (Owned)

Hampton,
VA (Leased)

Nuevo
Laredo
(Owned)

A y r ,  O N
(Owned)

Indianapolis,
IN (Owned)

Puebla
(Leased)

Laredo, TX
(Owned and
Leased)

Queretaro
(Leased)

Carlisle, PA
(Owned)

San Luis
Potosi
(Leased)

Drums, PA
(Leased)

Sa l amanca
(Leased)

Knoxville,
TN (Owned)
Richmond,
VA (Owned)
Columbus,
OH (Owned)
Warren, IN
(Owned)
Little Rock,
AR (Leased)
Denver, CO
(Owned)
Fontana, CA
(Owned)
Gadsden, AL
(Leased)
Butler, IN
(Owned)
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York, PA
(Owned)
New
Freedom, PA
(Owned)
Hope Mills,
NC (Owned)
Union City,
TN (Owned)
Ottoville,
OH (Owned)
Baltimore,
MD (Owned)
Hunt Valley,
MD (Leased)

Our executive and administrative offices occupy four buildings located on 40 acres of property in Indianapolis,
Indiana. The Indianapolis, Laredo, Wroxeter, Kitchener, and Monterrey terminals include administrative functions,
lounge facilities for drivers, parking, fuel, maintenance, and truck washing facilities. Both of our segments use the
Indianapolis facility and we have adequate space for the functions performed at our headquarters. With the exception
of the warehouses listed below, which are utilized exclusively by our asset light business segment, all of our other
owned and leased facilities are utilized primarily by our asset based segment. We have warehouses for our asset light
business unit in the following cities:

United
States

Battleboro,
N C
(Leased)
Greenwood,
IN (Leased)
Janesville,
WI
(Leased)
Jonesville,
IN (Owned)
Seymour,
IN (Leased)

Item 3.                 Legal Proceedings

We are party to certain lawsuits in the ordinary course of business. We are currently not party to any proceedings
which we expect to have a material adverse effect or which we otherwise consider material. See discussion under
"Cargo Liability, Insurance, and Legal Proceedings" in Item 1, and Note 8 to the consolidated financial statements,
"Commitments and Contingencies."
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Item 4.                 Mine Safety Disclosures

None.
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PART II

Item 5.Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity
Securities

Price Range of Common Stock

Our common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol "CGI."  The following table sets
forth, for the periods indicated, the high and low sales price per share of our common stock as reported by NYSE.

Fiscal
2014 High Low

Quarter
ended
September
30, 2013 $ 20.74 $ 17.33
Quarter
ended
December
31, 2013 $ 21.21 $ 16.63
Quarter
ended
March 31,
2014 $ 24.67 $ 18.71
Quarter
ended June
30, 2014 $ 24.69 $ 21.02

Fiscal
2015

Quarter
ended
September
30, 2014 $ 23.12 $ 18.88
Quarter
ended
December
31, 2014 $ 23.23 $ 18.12
Quarter
ended
March 31,
2015 $ 29.15 $ 21.59
Quarter
ended June
30, 2015 $ 28.17 $ 20.59

On September 8, 2015, there were 218 holders of our common stock based upon the number of record holders on that
date. However, we estimate our actual number of stockholders is much higher because a substantial number of our
shares are held of record by brokers or dealers for their customers in street names.
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Dividend Declaration and Policy

On July 28, 2015, the Board of Directors approved a regular cash dividend to shareholders for the quarter ending
September 30, 2015.  The quarterly cash dividend of two cents ($0.02) per share of common stock will be payable on
October 23, 2015 to shareholders of record at the close of business on October 9, 2015. Our ability to pay cash
dividends is currently limited by restrictions contained in our revolving credit facility. Future payments of cash
dividends will depend on our financial condition, results of operations, capital commitments, restrictions under our
then-existing debt agreements, and other factors our Board of Directors may consider relevant.
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Item 6.                 Selected Financial Data

The statements of operations data and balance sheet data presented below have been derived from our consolidated
financial statements and related notes thereto. The information set forth below should be read in conjunction with
"Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" and our consolidated
financial statements and related notes thereto.

2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

(in thousands, except per share data and operating data)
Statements of Operations Data:
Freight revenue(1) $ 769,950 $ 615,411 $ 489,035 $ 475,116 $ 467,002
Fuel surcharge revenue 130,806 143,900 124,613 123,836 101,247
Total revenue 900,756 759,311 613,648 598,952 568,249
Operating expense 834,971 719,877 564,976 552,193 537,463
Operating income 65,785 39,434 48,672 46,759 30,786
Interest expense 7,776 5,071 4,931 5,628 8,147
Other expense (income) 147 (16,008 ) (994 ) (412 ) (4,785 )
Income before income taxes 57,862 50,371 44,735 41,543 27,424
Provision for income taxes 20,645 19,690 17,471 16,007 12,162
Net income $ 37,217 $ 30,681 $ 27,264 $ 25,536 $ 15,262
Diluted earnings per share $ 1.52 $ 1.29 $ 1.17 $ 1.12 $ 0.67
Weighted average diluted shares
outstanding 24,471 23,755 23,393 22,872 22,632
Cash dividends declared per share $ 0.08 $ 0.08 $ 0.08 $ 0.08 $ 0.00

Balance Sheet Data (as of June 30):

Net property and equipment $ 788,530 $ 492,829 $ 496,870 $ 370,456 $ 277,114
Total assets 1,175,689 690,815 641,162 520,711 416,666
Long-term debt, revolving lines of
credit, and capital lease obligations,
including current maturities 563,591 263,980 294,431 230,571 147,703
Stockholders' equity 366,343 259,003 225,689 194,781 171,900

Operating Data:
For fiscal year(2): 
Average freight revenue per loaded
mile(3) $ 1.764 $ 1.613 $ 1.571 $ 1.529 $ 1.485
Average freight revenue per total
mile(3) $ 1.572 $ 1.419 $ 1.399 $ 1.367 $ 1.330
Average freight revenue per tractor per
week(3) $ 3,056 $ 2,884 $ 2,883 $ 2,876 $ 2,877
Average length of haul (in miles) 760 907 872 886 913
At end of fiscal year:
Average seated line-haul tractors(4) 3,886 3,268 2,707 2,705 2,662
Average age of company tractors (in
years) 1.2 1.8 1.4 1.5 1.9
Total trailers(4) 11,862 10,171 8,425 8,822 8,206
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Average age of company trailers (in
years) 4.7 3.4 2.2 2.8 5.5

(1)Freight revenue is total revenue less fuel surcharges.
(2)Unless otherwise indicated, operating data and statistics presented in this table and elsewhere in this report are for

our truckload revenue and operations and exclude revenue and operations of our less-than-truckload, local
trucking, brokerage, and logistics.

(3)Excludes fuel surcharges.
(4)Total fleet, including equipment operated by Jaguar.
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Item 7.                 Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Recent Results and Fiscal Year-End Financial Condition

For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2015, total revenue increased 18.6%, to $900.8 million from $759.3 million during
fiscal 2014. Freight revenue, which excludes revenue from fuel surcharges, increased 25.1%, to $770.0 million in
fiscal 2015 from $615.4 million in 2014. We generated net income of $37.2 million, or $1.52 per diluted share, for
fiscal 2015 compared with net income of $30.7 million, or $1.29 per diluted share, for fiscal 2014.

We believe that an improving economy and decreased, industry-wide trucking capacity in fiscal 2015 compared to
fiscal 2014 were the major factors contributing to the improvement in our operating metrics. Average freight revenue
per loaded mile for fiscal 2015, excluding fuel surcharge, increased 9.4% to $1.764 compared with $1.613 per mile in
2014. Average freight revenue per tractor per week increased by 6.0% to $3,056 in fiscal 2015 compared with $2,884
for fiscal 2014.  Our operating margin, excluding the effect of fuel surcharge (which is calculated as the percentage of
operating expenses net of fuel surcharge over trucking revenue), decreased to 91.5% for fiscal 2015 compared with
93.6% for fiscal 2014.

At June 30, 2015, our total balance sheet debt was $563.6 million and our total stockholders' equity was $366.3
million, for a total debt to capitalization ratio of 60.6%. At June 30, 2015, we had $66.8 million of available
borrowing capacity under our revolving credit facility.

Revenue

We primarily generate revenue by transporting freight for our customers or by arranging for transportation of their
freight. Generally, we are paid by the mile or by the load for our freight services. We also derive revenue from fuel
surcharges, loading and unloading activities, equipment detention, other trucking related services, warehousing
services, and revenue equipment leasing by our Quality Equipment Leasing, LLC subsidiary. The main factors that
affect our revenue are the revenue per mile we receive from our customers, the percentage of miles for which we are
compensated, the number of tractors operating, and the number of miles we generate with our equipment. These
factors relate to, among other things, the U.S. economy, inventory levels, the level of truck capacity in our markets,
specific customer demand, the percentage of team-driven tractors in our fleet, driver and independent contractor
availability, and our average length of haul.

We remove fuel surcharges from revenue to obtain what we refer to as "freight revenue" when calculating operating
ratios and some of our operating data. We believe that evaluating our operations without considering the impact of
fuel surcharges, which are sometimes a volatile source of revenue, affords a more consistent basis for comparing our
results of operations from period to period.  Freight revenue is a financial measure that is not in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles ("GAAP").  This measure is a supplemental non-GAAP financial measure
that is used by management and external users of our financial statements, such as industry analysts, investors, and
lenders.  While we believe such measure is useful for investors, it should not be used as a replacement for financial
measures that are in accordance with GAAP.

Expenses and Profitability

The main expenses impacting our profitability are attributable to the variable costs of transporting freight for our
customers. These costs include fuel expense, driver-related expenses, such as wages, benefits, training, and
recruitment, and independent contractor costs, which we record as purchased transportation. Expenses that have both
fixed and variable components include maintenance and tire expense and our total cost of insurance and claims. These
expenses generally vary with the miles we travel, but also have a controllable component based on safety, fleet age,
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efficiency, and other factors. Our main fixed cost is the acquisition and financing of long-term assets, primarily
revenue equipment. We have other mostly fixed costs, such as our non-driver personnel and facilities expenses.

The trucking industry has experienced significant increases in expenses over the past several years, which include
those relating to equipment costs, driver compensation, insurance, and, at times, fuel. As the economy continues to
grow and capacity in the trucking industry continues to tighten, we believe that rates will continue to increase.  We
expect the limited pool of qualified drivers and intense competition to recruit and retain those drivers will constrain
overall industry capacity for the foreseeable future.  However, we expect our recent recruiting and retention efforts,
which include the introduction of our driving school and reduction of our fleet age, to aid our competitiveness in this
area. Assuming continued economic growth occurs in U.S. manufacturing, retail, and other high volume shipping
industries, we expect to be able to raise freight rates in line with or faster than expenses.
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Revenue Equipment

We operate 5,590 tractors and 11,862 trailers. Of our tractors at June 30, 2015, 4,171 were owned, 154 were acquired
under operating leases, 74 were acquired under capital leases, and 1,191 were provided by independent contractors. Of
our trailers at June 30, 2015, 4,457 were owned, 487 were acquired under operating leases, and 6,918 were acquired
under capital leases.  

We use a combination of cash and leases to acquire new tractors, while most of our new trailers are acquired with
leases. These leases generally run for a period of three years for tractors and seven years for trailers. When we finance
revenue equipment acquisitions with operating leases, rather than borrowings or capital leases, the interest component
of our financing activities is recorded as an "above-the-line" operating expense on our statements of operations.

Independent contractors who operate for us provide a tractor and a driver and are responsible for all operating
expenses in exchange for a fixed payment per mile. When utilizing independent contractors, we do not have the
capital outlay of purchasing the tractors. The payments to independent contractors are recorded in purchased
transportation and the payments for equipment under operating leases are recorded in revenue equipment rentals.
Expenses associated with independent contractors, such as interest, depreciation, driver compensation, fuel, and other
expenses are not incurred by the Company. Based on these factors, we evaluate our efficiency using our operating
ratio, as well as income before income taxes.

Outlook

Looking forward, our profitability goal is to achieve and maintain an operating ratio of less than 90%.  We expect this
to require improvements in rate per mile and miles per tractor and decreased non-revenue miles. Because a large
percentage of our costs are variable, changes in revenue per mile affect our profitability to a greater extent than
changes in miles per tractor. For fiscal 2016, the key factors that we expect to have the greatest effect on our
profitability are our freight revenue per tractor per week (which will be affected by the general freight environment,
including the balance of freight demand and industry-wide trucking capacity), our ability to recruit and retain drivers
and compensation of drivers, our cost of revenue equipment (particularly in light of 2010 EPA engine requirements),
our fuel costs, and our insurance and claims. We will seek to continue our strategy of engaging in targeted acquisitions
to enhance our operations. To overcome cost increases and improve our margins, we will need to achieve increases in
freight revenue per tractor, as well as increased miles per tractor per week. Operationally, we will continue to seek
improvements in safety, driver recruiting, and retention. Our success in these areas primarily will affect revenue,
driver-related expenses, and insurance and claims expense.
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Results of Operations

The following tables set forth the percentage relationship of revenue and expense items to operating and freight
revenue for the periods indicated.

Fiscal year ended June 30,
2015 2014 2013

Operating revenue 100 % 100 % 100 %
Operating expenses:
Salaries, wages, and employee benefits 29.0 27.7 27.0
Fuel 16.1 22.6 23.4
Purchased transportation 27.2 22.9 20.5
Revenue equipment rentals 0.8 0.9 1.1
Operations and maintenance 6.3 6.5 5.3
Insurance and claims 3.2 2.5 2.5
Depreciation and amortization 8.4 8.5 9.4
Communication and utilities 0.9 0.8 0.9
Operating taxes and licenses 1.8 1.8 1.7
General and other operating 1.6 1.5 1.4
Gain on disposition of equipment (2.6 ) (0.9 ) (1.1 )

Total operating expenses 92.7 94.8 92.1

Operating income 7.3 5.2 7.9
Other expense:
Interest expense 0.9 0.7 0.8
Other expense (income), net 0.0 (2.1 ) (0.2 )

Income before income taxes 6.4 6.6 7.3
Provision for income taxes 2.3 2.6 2.8

Net income 4.1 % 4.0 % 4.4 %

Freight revenue(1) 100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 %
Operating expenses:
Salaries, wages, and employee benefits 33.9 34.1 33.9
Fuel 1.8 4.5 3.9
Purchased transportation 31.9 28.3 25.7
Revenue equipment rentals 1.0 1.1 1.4
Operations and maintenance 7.3 8.1 6.7
Insurance and claims 3.8 3.1 3.1
Depreciation and amortization 9.8 10.5 11.8
Communication and utilities 1.1 1.0 1.1
Operating taxes and licenses 2.1 2.2 2.1
General and other operating 1.9 1.8 1.7
Gain on disposition of equipment (3.1 ) (1.1 ) (1.4 )

Total operating expenses 91.5 93.6 90.0
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Operating income 8.5 6.4 10.0
Other expense:
Interest expense 1.0 0.8 1.0
Other expense (income), net 0.0 (2.6 ) (0.2 )

Income before income taxes 7.5 8.2 9.1
Provision for income taxes 2.7 3.2 3.6

Net income 4.8 % 5.0 % 5.6 %

(1) Freight revenue is equal to total operating revenue less fuel surcharges. In this table, fuel surcharges are eliminated
from revenue and subtracted from fuel expense. The amounts were $130.8 million, $143.9 million, and $124.6
million in fiscal 2015, 2014, and 2013, respectively. Freight revenue is not a recognized measure under GAAP and
should not be considered an alternative to or superior to other measures derived in accordance with GAAP. We
believe our presentation of freight revenue and our discussion of various expenses as a percentage of freight
revenue is a useful way to evaluate our core operating performance.
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Fiscal year ended June 30, 2015, compared with fiscal year ended June 30, 2014

Total revenue increased by $141.5 million, or 18.6%, to $900.8 million for fiscal 2015, from $759.3 million for fiscal
2014. Freight revenue increased by $154.6 million, or 25.1%, to $770.0 million for fiscal 2015, from $615.4 million
for fiscal 2014. This increase was primarily attributable to an increase in freight rates due to the increasing demand for
freight services and reduced capacity, as well as an increase in loaded miles. Average freight revenue per loaded mile,
excluding fuel surcharge, increased to $1.764 in fiscal 2015 from $1.613 for fiscal 2014, or 9.4%.  Loaded miles
increased to 350.1 million in fiscal 2015, compared to 303.9 million in fiscal 2014. We expect our freight rates to
maintain an upward trend through the end of the calendar year as industry capacity continues to tighten. Average
seated tractor count increased substantially between fiscal 2014 and fiscal 2015 primarily as a result of our
acquisitions. We expect average seated tractor count to continue to increase as a result of our driver school and other
recruiting efforts, offset by a challenging market for drivers and regulatory changes that are further restricting the
driver market.

Fuel surcharge revenue decreased to $130.8 million from $143.9 million for fiscal 2015 and 2014, respectively.  Fuel
surcharge revenue decreased despite an increase in loaded miles which was more than offset by a large decrease in
United States Department of Energy ("DOE") diesel fuel prices from which our fuel surcharge is calculated.

Revenue for our asset light segment increased to $90.5 million in fiscal 2015 compared to $52.6 million in fiscal
2014, or 72.1%. The increase is primarily related to increased revenues in both the LTL/brokerage business and
warehousing business that make-up our asset light segment. We expect our asset light business to sustain moderate
revenue growth going forward as we continue to take advantage of synergies created through our acquisitions and
leverage specialized service capabilities of acquired businesses.

Salaries, wages, and employee benefits were $261.2 million, or 29.0% of operating revenue and 33.9% of freight
revenue, for fiscal 2015, compared to $209.9 million, or 27.7% of operating revenue and 34.1% of freight revenue, for
fiscal 2014. Increased salaries, wages, and benefits were largely due to increased administrative salaries due to
increased headcount, driver salaries due to increased miles, recruiting expenses due to expanded recruiting efforts,
and medical benefits expense. The increased class sizes and growth of our driving school has increased our recruiting
expense. The increase in salaries, wages, and employee benefits was partially offset by the increase in independent
contractors as a percentage of our total fleet, which shifted expenses to the purchased transportation line item with
offsetting reductions in employee driver wages and related expenses.  We expect our driver school and our other
recruiting efforts to improve driver retention and asset utilization, although we expect competition for drivers to
persist for the near future. If we are successful at increasing our company driver count as a percentage of our total
fleet, we expect salaries, wages, and employee benefits will increase as a result.

Fuel expenses, without reduction for fuel surcharge revenue, decreased to $144.7 million, or 16.1% of operating
revenue, for fiscal 2015, compared to $171.7 million, or 22.6% of operating revenue, for fiscal 2014. Fuel expenses,
net of fuel surcharge revenue of $130.8 million and $143.9 million for fiscal 2015 and fiscal 2014, respectively,
decreased to $13.9 million, or 1.8% of freight revenue, for fiscal 2015, compared to $27.8 million, or 4.5% of freight
revenue, for fiscal 2014. These decreases were due to an increase in miles per gallon and a 27.6% decrease in average
DOE fuel prices to $2.84 per gallon for fiscal 2015, from $3.92 per gallon for fiscal 2014. We expect that our
continued efforts to reduce idling and operate more fuel-efficient tractors will continue to have a positive impact on
our miles per gallon.  

Purchased transportation increased to $245.4 million, or 27.2% of operating revenue and 31.9% of freight revenue, for
fiscal 2015, from $173.9 million, or 22.9% of operating revenue and 28.3% of freight revenue, for fiscal 2014. This
expense increase is primarily related to the expansion of our service offering mainly related to the acquisition of A&S
Kinard and an increase in our independent contractor expense. Our independent contractor expense increased due to
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an increase in independent contractor miles for fiscal 2015 compared to fiscal 2014.  Independent contractors, as a
percentage of our seated tractor count, are up from 13.6% as of the end of fiscal 2014 to 21.3% as of the end of fiscal
2015. Independent contractors are drivers who cover all their operating expenses (fuel, driver salaries, maintenance,
and equipment costs) for a fixed payment per mile. We also had increases in our LTL/brokerage expense due to
increased focus on these areas of our business. We expect purchased transportation to increase if we are able to
increase the number of independent contractors in our fleet and continue to increase our purchased transportation for
brokerage and intermodal transportation.
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Operations and maintenance consist of direct operating expense, maintenance, physical damage, and tire expense. This
category increased to $56.2 million, or 6.3% of operating revenue and 7.3% of freight revenue, for fiscal 2015, from
$49.7 million, or 6.5% of operating revenue and 8.1% of freight revenue, for fiscal 2014. The expense increase in
fiscal 2015 is primarily related to the increased number of company-owned tractors and trailers as well as an increase
in average trailer age to 4.7 years. Acquisitions during the current fiscal year contributed to the increased operation
and maintenance cost as well as increased the amount of equipment that is not covered under warranty as the acquired
operations utilized older revenue equipment. We expect operations and maintenance expense to increase as the
average age of our fleet increases now that we have substantially completed our equipment refresh cycle.

Insurance and claims expense increased to $29.1 million, or 3.2% of operating revenue and 3.8% of freight revenue,
for fiscal 2015, compared to $19.3 million, or 2.5% of operating revenue and 3.1% of freight revenue, for fiscal 2014.
Insurance consists of premiums for liability, physical damage, cargo, and workers' compensation insurance. These
increases are attributable to an increase in liability claims and workers' compensation claims due to an increase in the
number and/or severity of claims reported including adverse loss development. Our insurance program involves
self-insurance at various risk retention levels. Claims in excess of these risk levels are covered by insurance in
amounts we consider to be adequate. We accrue for the uninsured portion of claims based on known claims and
historical experience. We periodically review and adjust our insurance program to maintain a balance between
premium expense and the risk retention we are willing to assume. We expect our insurance and claims expense to be
consistent with historical average amounts going forward. However, this category will vary based upon the frequency
and severity of claims, the level of self-insurance, and premium expense.

Depreciation and amortization, consisting primarily of depreciation of revenue equipment, increased to $75.3 million,
or 8.4% of operating revenue and 9.8% of freight revenue, in fiscal 2015 from $64.5 million, or 8.5% of operating
revenue and 10.5% of freight revenue, for fiscal 2014. The increased cost is primarily related to the increased number
of tractors and trailers owned during the fiscal 2015 period compared to fiscal 2014. Revenue equipment held under
operating leases is not reflected on our consolidated balance sheet and the expenses related to such equipment are
reflected on our consolidated statements of operations in revenue equipment rentals, rather than in depreciation and
amortization and interest expense, as is the case for revenue equipment that is financed with borrowings or capital
leases. As we refresh older units in fiscal 2016, we expect depreciation to increase in connection with the increased
equipment costs.

Gain on sale of revenue equipment increased from $6.6 million in fiscal 2014 to $23.6 million in fiscal 2015.  This
increase is due primarily to the equipment that we sell to Element. We expect gain on sale to increase slightly over the
next six months, although gain on sale can vary significantly due to a variety of factors, including availability of
replacement equipment.

All of our other expenses are relatively minor in amount, and there were no significant changes in these expenses
during fiscal 2015. Accordingly, we have not provided a detailed discussion of such expenses.

Our pretax margin, which we believe is a useful measure of our operating performance because it is neutral with
regard to the method of revenue equipment financing that a company uses, decreased to 6.4% of operating revenue
and 7.5% of freight revenue for fiscal 2015, from 6.6% of operating revenue and 8.2% of freight revenue for fiscal
2014.

Income taxes increased to $20.6 million for fiscal 2015, from to $19.7 million for fiscal 2014, resulting from higher
pre-tax income. Due to the non-deductible effects of our driver per diem pay structure, our tax rate will fluctuate from
the 35% standard federal rate in future periods as net income fluctuates. Going forward, we expect our effective tax
rate will be approximately 35% to 37%.
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As a result of the factors described above, net income increased to $37.2 million for fiscal 2015, from $30.7 million
for fiscal 2014.
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Fiscal year ended June 30, 2014, compared with fiscal year ended June 30, 2013

Total revenue increased by $145.7 million, or 23.7%, to $759.3 million for fiscal 2014, from $613.6 million for fiscal
2013. Freight revenue increased by $126.4 million, or 25.8%, to $615.4 million for fiscal 2014, from $489.0 million
for fiscal 2013. This increase was primarily attributable to an increase in freight rates due to the increasing demand for
freight and reduced capacity, as well as an increase in loaded miles. Average freight revenue per loaded mile,
excluding fuel surcharge, increased to $1.613 in fiscal 2014 from $1.571 for fiscal 2013, or 2.6%.  Loaded miles
increased to 303.9 million in fiscal 2014, compared to 258.4 million in fiscal 2013. Average seated tractor count
improved substantially between 2013 and 2014, primarily as a result of our acquisitions.

Fuel surcharge revenue increased to $143.9 million from $124.6 million for fiscal 2014 and 2013, respectively.  Fuel
surcharge increased due to an increase in loaded miles, offset by a decrease in United States Department of Energy
("DOE") diesel fuel prices from which our fuel surcharge is calculated.

Revenue for our asset light segment increased to $52.6 million in fiscal 2014 compared to $44.0 million in fiscal
2013, or 19.5%. The increase was primarily related to increased revenues in our LTL/brokerage business and our
warehousing business. Our remaining interest in TruckersB2B, which had been operated as a joint venture since
February 2011, was sold in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2014. Our share of the operations of TruckersB2B is recorded
as equity in earnings in Other (income) expense for all of fiscal 2013 and most of fiscal 2014. Our pre-tax gain on the
sale was $17.1 million, not including expenses related to the sale.

Salaries, wages, and employee benefits were $209.9 million, or 27.7% of operating revenue and 34.1% of freight
revenue, for fiscal 2014, compared to $165.5 million, or 27.0% of operating revenue and 33.9% of freight revenue, for
fiscal 2013. These increases in salaries, wages, and benefits were largely due to increased administrative salaries due
to headcount, driver salaries due to increased miles, recruiting expenses due to expanded recruiting efforts, medical
benefits expense, and one-time severance payments associated with our acquisitions during fiscal 2014. The
completion and operation of our driving school, as well as our expansion of the school to two additional locations, has
increased our recruiting expense.

Fuel expenses, without reduction for fuel surcharge revenue, increased to $171.7 million, or 22.6% of operating
revenue, for fiscal 2014, compared to $143.8 million, or 23.4% of operating revenue, for fiscal 2013. Fuel expenses,
net of fuel surcharge revenue of $143.9 million and $124.6 million for fiscal 2014 and fiscal 2013, respectively,
increased to $27.8 million, or 4.5% of freight revenue, for fiscal 2014, compared to $19.2 million, or 3.9% of freight
revenue, for fiscal 2013. These increases were due to an increase in loaded miles, abnormally severe weather, which
increased idling of our tractors, and a slight decrease in miles per gallon offset by a decrease in DOE fuel prices.
Average DOE fuel prices decreased 1.3% to $3.92 per gallon for fiscal 2014, from $3.97 per gallon for fiscal 2013.

Purchased transportation increased to $173.9 million, or 22.9% of operating revenue and 28.3% of freight revenue, for
fiscal 2014, from $125.7 million, or 20.5% of operating revenue and 25.7% of freight revenue, for fiscal 2013. The
increase was primarily related to increases in our intermodal expenses due to increased intermodal operations in
Canada, attributable to our Canadian acquisitions. Our independent contractor expense increased due to an increase in
independent contractor miles for fiscal 2014 compared to fiscal 2013, despite the overall number of independent
contractors decreasing. Much of the decline in independent contractors occurred in the third and fourth quarter of the
year. We also had increases in our LTL/brokerage expense due to increased focus on these areas of our business.

Operations and maintenance consist of direct operating expense, maintenance, physical damage, and tire expense. This
category increased to $49.7 million, or 6.5% of operating revenue and 8.1% of freight revenue, for fiscal 2014, from
$32.7 million, or 5.3% of operating revenue and 6.7% of freight revenue, for fiscal 2013. The increase in fiscal 2014
is primarily related to an increase in average tractor age to 1.8 years and average trailer age to 3.4 years. Acquisitions
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during the 2014 fiscal year contributed to the increased age of equipment as well as increased the amount of
equipment that is not covered under warranty.

Insurance and claims expense increased to $19.3 million, or 2.5% of operating revenue and 3.1% of freight revenue,
for fiscal 2014, compared to $15.3 million, or 2.5% of operating revenue and 3.1% of freight revenue, for fiscal 2013.
Insurance consists of premiums for liability, physical damage, cargo, and workers' compensation insurance. The
increased cost is attributable to an increase in liability claims and workers' compensation claims due to an increase in
the number and/or severity of claims reported including loss development.
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Depreciation and amortization, consisting primarily of depreciation of revenue equipment, increased to $64.6 million,
or 8.5% of operating revenue and 10.5% of freight revenue, in fiscal 2014 from $57.6 million, or 9.4% of operating
revenue and 11.8% of freight revenue, for fiscal 2013. The increased cost is primarily related to the increased number
of tractors and trailers owned during the fiscal 2014 period compared to the fiscal 2013 period. Revenue equipment
held under operating leases is not reflected on our consolidated balance sheet and the expenses related to such
equipment are reflected on our consolidated statements of operations in revenue equipment rentals, rather than in
depreciation and amortization and interest expense, as is the case for revenue equipment that is financed with
borrowings or capital leases.

All of our other fiscal 2014 expenses were relatively minor in amount, and there were no significant changes in these
expenses during fiscal 2014. Accordingly, we have not provided a detailed discussion of such expenses.

Our pretax margin, which we believe is a useful measure of our operating performance because it is neutral with
regard to the method of revenue equipment financing that a company uses, decreased to 6.6% of operating revenue
and 8.2% of freight revenue for fiscal 2014, from 7.3% of operating revenue and 9.1% of freight revenue for fiscal
2013.

Income taxes increased to $19.7 million for fiscal 2014, from to $17.5 million for fiscal 2013, resulting from higher
pre-tax income. Due to the non-deductible effects of our driver per diem pay structure, our tax rate will fluctuate from
the 35% standard federal rate in future periods as net income fluctuates.

As a result of the factors described above, net income increased to $30.7 million for fiscal 2014, from $27.3 million
for fiscal 2013.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Trucking is a capital-intensive business. We require cash to fund our operating expenses (other than depreciation and
amortization), to make capital expenditures and acquisitions, and to repay debt, including principal, interest, and lease
payments.  Having just substantially completed our revenue equipment refresh cycle, we expect capital expenditures
in the near term to be less than capital expenditures in fiscal 2015, subject to the commitments for trailer acquisitions
noted below and replacement of aging revenue equipment obtained through acquisitions.  We frequently consider
potential acquisitions, and if we were to consummate an acquisition, our cash requirements would increase and we
may have to modify our expected financing sources for the purchase of tractors. Subject to any required lender
approval, we may make additional acquisitions.  Our principal sources of liquidity are cash generated from operations,
bank borrowings, capital and operating lease financing of revenue equipment, and proceeds from the sale of used
revenue equipment.  At June 30, 2015, our total balance sheet debt, including capital lease obligations, and current
maturities, was $563.6 million, compared $264.0 million at June 30, 2014.

As of June 30, 2015, we had on order 2,250 trailers for delivery through fiscal 2016 to complete the refresh of our
fleet and replace equipment obtained through acquisitions. There were no tractor orders as of June 30, 2015. These
trailer orders represent a capital commitment of approximately $60.7 million, before considering the proceeds of
equipment dispositions. In fiscal 2016, we expect to acquire our trailers through purchases using cash generated from
operations and through leases.

We believe we will be able to fund our operating expenses, as well as our limited commitments for the acquisition of
revenue equipment, over the next twelve months with a combination of cash generated from operations, borrowings
available under secured equipment financing or our primary credit facility, equipment sales, and lease financing
arrangements. We will continue to have significant capital requirements over the long term, and the availability of the
needed capital will depend upon our financial condition and operating results and numerous other factors over which
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we have limited or no control, including prevailing market conditions and the market price of our common stock.
However, based on our operating results, anticipated future cash flows, current availability under our credit facility,
expected capital expenditures, and sources of equipment lease financing that we expect will be available to us, we do
not expect to experience significant liquidity constraints in the foreseeable future.
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Cash Flows

We generated net cash from operating activities of $44.6 million in fiscal 2015, $70.3 million in fiscal 2014, and
$86.7 million in fiscal 2013. The decrease in net cash provided by operations in fiscal 2015 from fiscal 2014 is due to
a large increase in the equipment held for resale, which we expect to sell over the next six months.

Net cash used in investing activities was $60.8 million for fiscal 2015, compared to net cash provided by investing
activities of $5.5 million for fiscal 2014 and net cash used in investing activities of $103.6 million for fiscal 2013. The
outflows of investing cash flow are a result of cash used for acquisitions and purchasing equipment, offset by cash
provided by disposal and sale of equipment. Cash paid for acquisitions was $114.7 million in fiscal 2015, $36.6
million in fiscal 2014, and $39.5 million in fiscal 2013.  Capital expenditures primarily for tractors and trailers totaled
$118.4 million in fiscal 2015, $82.8 million in fiscal 2014, and $169.5 million in fiscal 2013. These equipment
expenditures vary based upon where we are in our equipment refresh cycle, which was nearly completed for tractors
during the previous year. We generated proceeds from the sale of property and equipment of $172.4 million in fiscal
2015, $103.9 million in fiscal 2014, and $105.4 million in fiscal 2013.

Net cash provided by financing activities was $27.3 million in fiscal 2015, and net cash used in financing activities of
$61.0 million in fiscal 2014, and $15.5 million in fiscal 2013. Financing activity consists primarily of bank
borrowings, bank payments, and payment of the principal component of capital lease obligations.

Primary Credit Agreement

In December 2010, we entered into a new $50 million five-year revolving credit facility agented by Bank of America,
N.A. The facility refinanced our previous credit facility and provides for ongoing working capital needs and general
corporate purposes. Bank of America, N.A. served as the lead agent in the facility and Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. also
participated in the new facility. In December 2014, we increased our credit facility and extended the maturity. At June
30, 2015, we were authorized to borrow up to $300.0 million under this credit facility, which expires December 2019.
The applicable interest rate under this agreement is based on either a base rate equal to Bank of America, N.A.'s prime
rate or LIBOR plus an applicable margin between 0.825% and 1.45% that is adjusted quarterly based on our lease
adjusted total debt to EBITDAR ratio. At June 30, 2015, the credit facility had an outstanding balance of $132.4
million and $1.7 million utilized for letters of credit. The facility is collateralized by the assets of all the U.S. and
Canadian subsidiaries of the Company. We are obligated to comply with certain financial covenants under our credit
agreement and we were in compliance with these covenants at June 30, 2015.

Contractual Obligations and Commitments

As of June 30, 2015, our bank loans, capitalized leases, operating leases, other debts, and future commitments have
stated maturities or minimum annual payments as follows:

Future Cash Requirements as of June 30, 2015
(in thousands)

Payments Due by Period

C o n t r a c t u a l
Obligations Total

Less than
One Year

One to
Three
Years

Three
to Five
 Years

More
Than
Five
 Years

Operating leases $ 10,815 $ 6,833 $ 3,692 $ 290 $ ---
13,083 7,112 --- 5,971 ---
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Lease residual value
guarantees

Capital lease
obligations(1) 455,909 71,901 254,059 94,942 35,007

Sub-total 479,807 85,846 257,751 101,203 35,007

Future purchase of
revenue equipment 60,650 60,650 --- --- ---
Standby letters of
credit 1,652 1,652 --- --- ---

Total contractual and
cash obligations $ 542,109 $ 148,148 $ 257,751 $ 101,203 $ 35,007

(1)Includes interest.
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Inflation and Fuel Costs

Most of our operating expenses are inflation-sensitive, with inflation generally producing increased costs of
operations. During the past three years, the most significant effects of inflation have been on revenue equipment prices
and fuel prices, although diesel fuel prices have decreased significantly over the last twelve months. New emissions
control regulations and increases in commodity prices, wages of manufacturing workers, and other items have resulted
in higher tractor prices. We attempt to limit the effects of inflation through increases in freight rates, certain cost
control efforts, and limiting the effects of fuel prices through fuel surcharges and measures intended to reduce our
consumption of fuel.

Fluctuations in the price or availability of fuel, as well as hedging activities, increased fuel consumption due to
adverse weather, surcharge collection, the percentage of freight we obtain through brokers, and the volume and terms
of diesel fuel purchase commitments may increase our costs of operation, which could materially and adversely affect
our profitability. We impose fuel surcharges on substantially all accounts. These arrangements may not fully protect
us from fuel price increases and also may result in us not receiving the full benefit of any fuel price decreases. As of
June 30, 2015, we did not have any outstanding fuel hedges. If we enter into any future hedges, we may be forced to
make cash payments under the hedging arrangements. Based on current market conditions, we have decided to limit
our hedging and purchase commitments, but we continue to evaluate such measures. The absence of meaningful fuel
price protection through these measures could adversely affect our profitability and results of operation.

Critical Accounting Policies

The preparation of our consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles requires us to make estimates and assumptions that impact the amounts reported in our consolidated
financial statements and accompanying notes. Therefore, the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues,
expenses, and associated disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities are affected by these estimates and
assumptions. We evaluate these estimates and assumptions on an ongoing basis, utilizing historical experience,
consultation with experts, and other methods considered reasonable in the particular circumstances. Nevertheless,
actual results may differ significantly from our estimates and assumptions, and it is possible that materially different
amounts would be reported using differing estimates or assumptions. We consider our critical accounting policies to
be those that require us to make more significant judgments and estimates when we prepare our consolidated financial
statements. Our critical accounting policies include the following:

Depreciation of Property and Equipment. We depreciate our property and equipment using the straight-line method
over the estimated useful life of the asset. We generally use estimated useful lives of 3 to 7 years for new tractors and
trailers, and estimated salvage values for new tractors and trailers generally range from 35% to 59% of the capitalized
cost.

We review the reasonableness of our estimates regarding useful lives and salvage values of our revenue equipment
and other long-lived assets based upon, among other things, our experience with similar assets, conditions in the used
equipment market, and prevailing industry practice. Changes in our useful life or salvage value estimates or
fluctuations in market values that are not reflected in our estimates, could have a material effect on our results of
operations.

Revenue equipment and other long-lived assets are tested for impairment whenever an event occurs that indicates an
impairment may exist. Expected future cash flows are used to analyze whether an impairment has occurred. If the sum
of expected undiscounted cash flows is less than the carrying value of the long-lived asset, then an impairment loss is
recognized. We measure the impairment loss by comparing the fair value of the asset to its carrying value. Fair value
is determined based on a discounted cash flow analysis or the appraised or estimated market value of the asset, as
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Claims Reserves and Estimates. The primary claims arising for us consist of cargo liability, personal injury, property
damage, collision and comprehensive, workers' compensation, and employee medical expenses. We maintain
self-insurance levels for these various areas of risk and have established reserves to cover these self-insured liabilities.
We also maintain insurance to cover liabilities in excess of these self-insurance amounts. Claims reserves represent
accruals for the estimated uninsured portion of reported claims, including adverse development of reported claims, as
well as estimates of incurred but not reported claims. Reported claims and related loss reserves are estimated by third
party administrators, and we refer to these estimates in establishing our reserves.  Claims incurred but not reported are
estimated based on our historical experience and industry trends, which are continually monitored, and accruals are
adjusted when warranted by changes in facts and circumstances.  In establishing our reserves with respect to
individual claims, we take into account various factors, including, but not limited to, assumptions concerning the
nature and severity of the claim, the expected effect of the jurisdiction on any potential award or settlement, and the
length of time until ultimate resolution of the claim is likely. In addition, we account for anticipated health care cost
inflation, interest rates, and legal expenses, as well as other factors in estimating the general adequacy of our
reserves.  Since these estimates require us to make a number of assumptions, and due to the difficulty in accurately
assessing the final costs of certain claims, the actual expense of our claims may be significantly higher than the
amounts we have accrued for them. Insurance and claims expense will vary from period to period based on the
severity and frequency of claims incurred in a given period.

Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activity. We use derivative financial instruments to manage the economic impact
of fluctuations in currency exchange rates and fuel prices.  Derivative financial instruments related to currency
exchange rates and heating oil (fuel prices) include forward purchase and sale agreements which generally have terms
no greater than 18 months.

To account for our derivative financial instruments, we follow the provisions of ASC Topic 815, Derivatives and
Hedging. Derivative financial instruments are recognized on the consolidated balance sheets as either assets or
liabilities and are measured at fair value. Changes in the fair value of derivatives are recorded each period in earnings
or accumulated other comprehensive income, depending on whether a derivative is designated and effective as part of
a hedge transaction, and if it is, the type of hedge transaction.  Gains and losses on derivative instruments reported in
accumulated other comprehensive income are subsequently included in earnings in the periods in which earnings are
affected by the hedged item. These activities have not had a material impact on our financial position or results of
operations for the periods presented herein.

Accounting for Income Taxes. Deferred income taxes represent a substantial liability on our consolidated balance
sheet. Deferred income taxes are determined in accordance with ASC Topic 740-10, Income Taxes. Deferred tax
assets and liabilities are recognized for the expected future tax consequences attributable to differences between the
financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases, and operating loss
and tax credit carryforwards. We evaluate our tax assets and liabilities on a periodic basis and adjust these balances as
appropriate. We believe that we have adequately provided for our future tax consequences based upon current facts
and circumstances and current tax law. However, should our tax positions be challenged and not prevail, different
outcomes could result and have a significant impact on the amounts reported in our consolidated financial statements.

The carrying value of our deferred tax assets (tax benefits expected to be realized in the future) assumes that we will
be able to generate, based on certain estimates and assumptions, sufficient future taxable income in certain tax
jurisdictions to utilize these deferred tax benefits. If these estimates and related assumptions change in the future, we
may be required to reduce the value of the deferred tax assets resulting in additional income tax expense. We believe
that it is more likely than not that the deferred tax assets, net of valuation allowance, will be realized, based on
forecasted income. However, there can be no assurance that we will meet our forecasts of future income. We evaluate
the deferred tax assets on a periodic basis and assess the need for additional valuation allowances.
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Federal income taxes are provided on that portion of the income of foreign subsidiaries that is expected to be remitted
to the United States.

Business Combinations. Assets acquired and liabilities assumed as part of a business acquisition are generally
recorded at their fair value at the date of acquisition in accordance with ASC Topic 805, Business Combinations. The
excess of purchase price over the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed is recorded as goodwill.
Determining fair value of identifiable assets, particularly intangibles, and liabilities acquired also requires us to make
estimates, which are based on all available information and in some cases assumptions with respect to the timing and
amount of future revenues and expenses associated with an asset. 

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In July 2013, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued ASU No. 2013-11, "Taxes (ASC Topic
740): Presentation of an Unrecognized Tax Benefit When a Net Operating Loss Carryforward, a Similar Tax Loss, or
a Tax Credit Carryforward Exists" ("ASU 2013-11"), which applies to all entities that have unrecognized tax benefits
when a net operating loss carryforward, a similar tax loss, or a tax credit carryforward exists at the reporting date. The
amendments in this Update do not require new recurring disclosures, but only provides additional explicit guidance on
the financial statement presentation. The amendment became effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within
those years, beginning after December 15, 2013. The adoption of this guidance has not had a material impact on our
consolidated financial statements.
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In August 2015, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued ASU No. 2015-14 deferring the effective
date of ASU No. 2014-09, "Revenue from Contracts with Customers" (ASC Topic 606): ("ASU 2014-09"), which
requires the recognition of revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that
reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. This
guidance will affect any organization that either enters into contracts with customers to transfer goods or services or
enters into contracts for the transfer of non-financial assets. This ASU is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods
within those years, beginning on or after December 15, 2017, and early adoption will be permitted. The Company is
continuing to evaluate the new guidance and plans to provide additional information about its expected financial
impact at a future date.

Item 7A.                 Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

We experience various market risks, including changes in interest rates, foreign currency exchange rates, and fuel
prices. We do not enter into derivatives or other financial instruments for trading or speculative purposes, nor when
there are no underlying related exposures.

Interest Rate Risk. We are exposed to interest rate risk principally from our credit facility.  The credit facility carries a
maximum variable interest rate based on either a base rate equal to the greater of the Bank of America, N.A.'s prime
rate or LIBOR plus an applicable margin between 0.825% and 1.45% that is adjusted quarterly based on the
Company's lease adjusted total debt to EBITDAR ratio. At June 30, 2015, we had an outstanding balance of $132.4
million related to our credit facility and $1.7 million utilized for letters of credit. A hypothetical 0.25% increase in the
bank's base rate and LIBOR would be immaterial to our net income.

Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk. We are subject to foreign currency exchange rate risk, specifically in
connection with our Canadian and Mexican operations. While virtually all of the expenses associated with our
Canadian operations, such as independent contractor costs, company driver compensation, and administrative costs,
are paid in Canadian dollars, a significant portion of our revenue generated from those operations is billed in U.S.
dollars because many of our customers are U.S. shippers transporting goods to or from Canada. As a result, increases
in the value of the Canadian dollar relative to the U.S. dollar could adversely affect the profitability of our Canadian
operations. Assuming revenue and expenses for our Canadian operations identical to the year ended June 30, 2015
(both in terms of amount and currency mix), we estimate that a $0.01 increase in the value of the Canadian dollar,
relative to the U.S. dollar, would reduce our annual net income by approximately $116,000. At June 30, 2015, we had
no outstanding foreign exchange derivative contracts relating to the Canadian dollar. Previously derivative
gains/(losses) were initially reported as a component of other comprehensive income and were reclassified to earnings
in the period when the contracts were closed out.

While virtually all of the expenses associated with our Mexican operations, such as independent contractor costs,
company driver compensation, and administrative costs, are paid in Mexican pesos, a significant portion of our
revenue generated from those operations is billed in U.S. dollars because many of our customers are U.S. shippers
transporting goods to or from Mexico. As a result, an increase in the value of the Mexican peso, relative to the U.S.
dollar, could adversely affect our consolidated results of operations. Assuming revenue and expenses for our Mexican
operations identical to the year ended June 30, 2015 (both in terms of amount and currency mix), we estimate that a
$0.01 increase in the value of the Mexican peso, relative to the U.S. dollar, would reduce our annual net income by
approximately $207,000. At June 30, 2015, we had no outstanding foreign exchange derivative contracts relating to
the Mexican peso. Previously derivative gains/(losses) were initially reported as a component of other comprehensive
income and were reclassified to earnings in the period when the contracts were closed out.

Commodity Price Risk. Shortages of fuel, increases in prices, or rationing of petroleum products can have a materially
adverse effect on our operations and profitability. Fuel is subject to economic, political, and market factors that are
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outside of our control. Historically, we have sought to recover a portion of short-term increases in fuel prices from
customers through the collection of fuel surcharges. However, fuel surcharges do not always fully offset increases in
fuel prices. In addition, from time-to-time we may enter into derivative financial instruments to reduce our exposure to
fuel price fluctuations. As of June 30, 2015, we did not have any amount of our future fuel purchases hedged.
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Item 8.                 Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

The following statements are filed with this report:

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm;
Consolidated Statements of Operations;
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income;
Consolidated Balance Sheets;
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows;
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity; and
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Audit Committee, Board of Directors and Stockholders
Celadon Group, Inc.
Indianapolis, Indiana

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Celadon Group, Inc. as of June 30, 2015 and 2014,
and the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income, stockholders’ equity and cash flows for
each of the years in the two year period ended June 30, 2015.  In connection with our audit of the consolidated
financial statements, we also have audited the financial statement schedule II for each of the years in the two year
period ended June 30, 2015.  The Company's management is responsible for these financial statements and financial
statement schedule.  Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and financial statement
schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States).  Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. Our audits also included examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used
and significant estimates made by management and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.  We
believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of Celadon Group, Inc. as of June 30, 2015 and 2014, and the results of its operations and its cash
flows for each of the years in the two year period ended June 30, 2015, in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America.  Also in our opinion, the related financial statement schedule II for
each of the years in the two year period ended June 30, 2015, when considered in relation to the basic consolidated
financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States), Celadon Group, Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as of June 30, 2015, based on criteria
established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework (1992 edition) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) and our report dated September 10, 2015, expressed an
unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting.

/s/ BKD, LLP

Indianapolis, Indiana
September 10, 2015
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Audit Committee, Board of Directors and Stockholders
Celadon Group, Inc.
Indianapolis, Indiana

We have audited Celadon Group Inc.'s internal control over financial reporting as of June 30, 2015, based on criteria
established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (1992 edition) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).  The Company's management is responsible for maintaining
effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over
financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial
Reporting.  Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's internal control over financial reporting
based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States).  Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.  Our audit included
obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness
exists and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed
risk.  Our audit also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances.  We
believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles.  A company's internal control over financial reporting includes those
policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that
transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance
with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the company's assets that could have a
material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements.  Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies
or procedures may deteriorate.

As permitted, the Company excluded the operations of A&S Services Group, LLC and related entities, a
transportation company acquired on October 24, 2014 and Taylor Express, Inc., a transportation company acquired on
January 20, 2015, from the scope of management’s report on internal control over financial reporting.  As such, these
entities have also been excluded from the scope of our audit of internal control over financial reporting.

In our opinion, Celadon Group, Inc. maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial
reporting as of June 30, 2015, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (1992 edition)
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States), the consolidated financial statements of Celadon Group, Inc. and our report dated September 10, 2015,
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/s/ BKD, LLP

Indianapolis, Indiana
September 10, 2015
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of Celadon Group, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income, cash flows, and
stockholders’ equity of Celadon Group, Inc. (the Company) for the year ended June 30, 2013. In connection with our
audit of the consolidated financial statements, we also have audited the financial statement schedule II for the year
ended June 30, 2013. These consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule are the responsibility
of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements
and financial statement schedule based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
results of Celadon Group, Inc.’s operations and its cash flows the year ended June 30, 2013, in conformity with
U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Also in our opinion, the related financial statement schedule II for the
year ended June 30, 2013, when considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial statements taken as a whole,
presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein.

/s/ KPMG LLP

Indianapolis, Indiana
September 12, 2013
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CELADON GROUP, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Years ended June 30, 2015, 2014, and 2013
(Dollars and shares in thousands, except per share amounts)

2015 2014 2013
Operating Revenue:
Freight revenue $ 769,950 $ 615,411 $ 489,035
Fuel surcharges 130,806 143,900 124,613

Total revenue 900,756 759,311 613,648

Operating expenses:
Salaries, wages, and employee benefits 261,216 209,938 165,485
Fuel 144,687 171,695 143,807
Purchased transportation 245,352 173,940 125,741
Revenue equipment rentals 7,429 6,621 6,973
Operations and maintenance 56,237 49,709 32,669
Insurance and claims 29,091 19,252 15,251
Depreciation and amortization 75,317 64,579 57,580
Communications and utilities 8,361 6,409 5,408
Operating taxes and licenses 16,443 13,275 10,451
General and other operating 14,457 11,195 8,424
Gain on disposition of equipment (23,619 ) (6,736 ) (6,813 )
Total operating expenses 834,971 719,877 564,976

Operating income 65,785 39,434 48,672

Other (income) expense:
Interest expense 7,776 5,071 4,931
Interest income (7 ) (12 ) ---
Other (income) expense, net 154 (15,996 ) (994 )
Income before income taxes 57,862 50,371 44,735
Provision for income taxes 20,645 19,690 17,471
Net income $ 37,217 $ 30,681 $ 27,264

Earnings per common share:
Diluted earnings per share $ 1.52 $ 1.29 $ 1.17
Basic earnings per share $ 1.56 $ 1.33 $ 1.20
Weighted average shares outstanding:
Diluted 24,471 23,755 23,393
Basic 23,844 23,014 22,641

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

36

Edgar Filing: CELADON GROUP INC - Form 10-K

66



Table of Contents

CELADON GROUP, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Years ended June 30, 2015, 2014, and 2013
(Dollars in thousands)

2015 2014 2013

Net Income $ 37,217 $ 30,681 $ 27,264
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Unrealized gain (loss) on fuel derivative instruments, net of tax --- (45 ) 104
Unrealized gain (loss) on currency derivative instruments, net of tax (36 ) 105 (78 )
Foreign currency translation adjustments (16,212 ) (784 ) (324 )
Total other comprehensive loss (16,248 ) (724 ) (298 )
Comprehensive income $ 20,969 $ 29,957 $ 26,966

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CELADON GROUP, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

June 30, 2015 and 2014
(Dollars and shares in thousands except par value amounts)

ASSETS 2015 2014

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 24,699 $ 15,508
Trade receivables, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $1,002 and $942 in 2015
and 2014, respectively 130,892 105,968
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 33,267 26,288
Tires in service 1,857 2,227
Equipment held for resale 102,447 3,148
Income tax receivable 17,926 6,395
Deferred income taxes 7,083 7,651
Total current assets 318,171 167,185
Property and equipment 935,976 643,888
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization 147,446 151,059
Net property and equipment 788,530 492,829
Tires in service 2,173 2,720
Goodwill 55,357 22,810
Other assets 11,458 5,271
Total assets $ 1,175,689 $ 690,815

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Current liabilities:
        Accounts payable $ 13,699 $ 11,017
Accrued salaries and benefits 16,329 13,902
Accrued insurance and claims 14,808 11,568
Accrued fuel expense 10,979 11,306
Accrued purchase transportation 16,259 10,213
        Deferred leasing revenue  31,872  6,581
Other accrued expenses 32,610 18,909
Current maturities of capital lease obligations 62,992 67,439
Current maturities of long-term debt 948 1,440
Total current liabilities 200,496 152,375
Capital lease obligations, net of current maturities 366,452 119,665
Long-term debt 133,199 75,436
Other long term liabilities 953 8,061
Deferred income taxes 108,246 76,275
Stockholders' equity:
Common stock, $0.033 par value, authorized 40,000 shares; issued and outstanding
28,342 and 24,060 shares at June 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively 935 794
Treasury stock at cost; 500 shares at June 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively (3,453 ) (3,453 )
Additional paid-in capital 195,682 107,579
Retained earnings 195,412 160,068
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (22,233 ) (5,985 )
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Total stockholders' equity 366,343 259,003
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity $ 1,175,689 $ 690,815

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CELADON GROUP, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Years ended June 30, 2015, 2014, and 2013
(Dollars in thousands)

2015 2014 2013

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income $ 37,217 $ 30,681 $ 27,264
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating
activities:
Depreciation and amortization 75,624 64,800 57,812
Gain on sale of equipment (23,619 ) (6,736 ) (6,813 )
Gain from sale of minority investment --- (17,143 ) ---
Deferred income taxes 32,391 5,210 20,537
Provision for doubtful accounts 240 100 (1 )
Stock based compensation expense 2,772 2,077 3,850
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Trade receivables (6,198 ) (17,125 ) (2,129 )
Income tax receivable and payable (11,426 ) 7,905 (11,124 )
Tires in service 860 (1,917 ) 2,016
Prepaid expenses and other current assets (4,538 ) (10,409 ) (1,058 )
Other assets 240 886 (1,200 )
Equipment held for resale (85,331 ) --- ---
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 26,333 11,988 (2,445 )
Net cash provided by operating activities 44,565 70,317 86,709
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchase of property and equipment (118,422) (82,826 ) (169,511)
Proceeds on sale of property and equipment 172,354 103,926 105,444
Proceeds from sale of minority interest --- 21,000 ---
Purchase of businesses, net of cash acquired (114,682) (36,602 ) (39,484 )
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities (60,750 ) 5,498 (103,551)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of common stock 85,353 2,985 1,892
Borrowings on long-term debt 847,285 325,520 388,009
Payments on long-term debt (789,847) (358,466) (333,539)
Dividends paid (1,873 ) (1,837 ) (1,805 )
Principal payments on capital lease obligations (113,624) (29,190 ) (70,066 )
Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities 27,294 (60,988 ) (15,509 )
Effect of exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents (1,918 ) (634 ) 20
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 9,191 14,193 (32,331 )
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 15,508 1,315 33,646
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 24,699 $ 15,508 $ 1,315
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Interest paid $ 7,776 $ 4,802 $ 4,927
Income taxes paid $ 5,627 $ 9,901 $ 8,752
Obligations incurred under capital lease $ 304,261 $ --- $ 55,789

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CELADON GROUP, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Years ended June 30, 2015, 2014, and 2013
(Dollars in thousands, except share amounts)

Common
Stock

No. of Shares
 Outstanding Amount

Additional
Paid-In
 Capital

Treasury
Stock

Retained
Earnings

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income/(Loss)

Total
Stockholders'

 Equity

Balance at June 30,
2012 22,829,310 $ 791 $ 101,154 $ (7,966 ) $ 105,765 $ (4,963 ) $ 194,781

Net income --- --- --- --- 27,264 --- 27,264
Other comprehensive
income (loss) --- --- --- --- --- (298 ) (298 )
Comprehensive income 27,264 (298 ) 26,966
Treasury stock issued --- --- (1,792 ) 1,801 --- --- 9
Restricted stock and
options expense 164,851 (3 ) 3,849 --- --- --- 3,846
Dividends paid --- --- --- --- (1,805 ) --- (1,805 )
Exercise of stock
options 196,575 --- 538 1,354 --- --- 1,892
Balance at June 30,
2013 23,190,736 $ 788 $ 103,749 $ (4,811 ) $ 131,224 $ (5,261 ) $ 225,689

Net income --- --- --- --- 30,681 --- 30,681
Other comprehensive
income (loss) --- --- --- --- --- (724 ) (724 )
Comprehensive income 30,681 (724 ) 29,957
Treasury stock issued --- --- (634 ) 634 --- --- ---
Restricted stock and
options expense 132,400 2 2,075 --- --- --- 2,077
Dividends paid --- --- --- --- (1,837 ) --- (1,837 )
Exercise of stock
options 236,742 4 2,389 724 --- --- 3,117
Balance at June 30,
2014 23,559,878 $ 794 $ 107,579 $ (3,453 ) $ 160,068 $ (5,985 ) $ 259,003

Net income --- --- --- --- 37,217 --- 37,217
Other comprehensive
income (loss) --- --- --- --- --- (16,248 ) (16,248 )
Comprehensive income 37,217 (16,248 ) 20,969
Treasury stock issued --- --- --- --- --- --- ---
Restricted stock and
options expense 176,465 5 2,767 --- --- --- 2,772
Dividends paid --- --- --- --- (1,873 ) --- (1,873 )

605,954 20 6,576 --- --- --- 6,596
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Exercise of stock
options
Issuance of common
stock 3,500,000 116 78,760 --- --- --- 78,876
Balance at June 30,
2015 27,842,297 $ 935 $ 195,682 $ (3,453 ) $ 195,412 $ (22,233 ) $ 366,343

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CELADON GROUP, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
June 30, 2015, 2014, and 2013

(1) ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Organization

Celadon Group, Inc. (the "Company"), through its subsidiaries, provides transportation services between the United
States, Canada, and Mexico. The Company's primary transportation subsidiaries are: Celadon Trucking Services, Inc.
("CTSI"), a U.S. based company; Celadon Logistics Services, Inc. ("CLSI"), a U.S. based company; Servicio de
Transportation Jaguar, S.A. de C.V. ("Jaguar"), a Mexican based company; and Celadon Canada, Inc. ("CelCan"), a
Canadian based company.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Principles of Consolidation and Presentation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly and majority owned
subsidiaries, all of which are wholly owned except for Jaguar in which the Company owns 75% of the shares. The
entity was set up to allow the Company to operate in Mexico. The minority owner of Jaguar has been refunded all
initial capital contributions and is not entitled to receive any future earnings or required to fund any losses of the
subsidiary. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. Unless
otherwise noted, all references to annual periods refer to the respective fiscal years ended June 30.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles ("GAAP")
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities,
revenues, expenses, and related disclosures at the date of the financial statements and during the reporting period.
Such estimates include provisions for liability claims and uncollectible accounts receivable. Actual results could differ
from those estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid instruments with maturity of three months or less when purchased to be cash
equivalents.

Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments, which potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk, consist primarily of
trade receivables. The Company performs ongoing credit evaluations of its customers and does not require collateral
for its accounts receivable. The Company maintains reserves which management believes are adequate to provide for
potential credit losses. Uncollectible accounts receivable are written off against the reserves. Concentrations of credit
risk with respect to trade receivables are generally limited due to the Company's large number of customers and the
diverse range of industries which they represent. Accounts receivable balances due from any single customer did not
total more than 5% of the Company's gross trade receivables at June 30, 2015.

Property and Equipment
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Property and equipment are stated at cost. Property and equipment under capital leases are stated at fair value at the
inception of the lease.

Depreciation of property and equipment and amortization of assets under capital leases are computed using the
straight-line method and are based on the lesser of the life of the lease or the estimated useful lives of the related
assets (net of salvage value) as follows:

Revenue and service
equipment

3-7 years

Furniture and office
equipment

4-5 years

Buildings 20 years
Leasehold
improvements

Lesser of life of lease (including expected
renewals) or useful life of improvement
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CELADON GROUP, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
June 30, 2015, 2014, and 2013

The cost of maintenance and repairs is charged to expense as incurred.

Long-lived assets are depreciated over estimated useful lives based on historical experience and prevailing industry
practice. Estimated useful lives are periodically reviewed to ensure they remain appropriate. Long-lived assets are
tested for impairment whenever an event occurs that indicates an impairment may exist. Future cash flows and
operating performance are used for analyzing potential impairment losses. If the sum of expected undiscounted cash
flows is less than the carrying value an impairment loss is recognized. The Company measures the impairment loss by
comparing the fair value of the asset to its carrying value. Fair value is determined based on a discounted cash flow
analysis or appraised or estimated market values as appropriate. Long-lived assets that are held for sale are recorded at
the lower of carrying value or the fair value less costs to sell.

Equipment held for resale

Equipment held for resale is recorded at the lower of carrying value and fair market value less costs to sell.  The
Company also ceases the depreciation on these assets.  The majority of the assets included in equipment held for
resale were acquired to be resold and those assets have been recorded at cost.

Tires in Service

Replacement tires on tractors and trailers are included in tires in service and are amortized over 18 to 36 months.

Goodwill

The consolidated balance sheets at June 30, 2015 and 2014 included goodwill of acquired businesses of approximately
$55.4 million and $22.8 million respectively. Under ASC Topic 350-20 Intangibles – Goodwill and Other, goodwill is
not amortized but is tested for impairment annually (or more often, if an event or circumstance indicates that an
impairment loss has been incurred). On April 1, 2015, we completed our most recent qualitative annual impairment
test (under ASU 2011-08) for the fiscal year and concluded that there was no indication of impairment.

Insurance Reserves

The primary claims arising for us consist of cargo liability, personal injury, property damage, collision and
comprehensive, workers' compensation, and employee medical expenses. We maintain self-insurance levels for these
various areas of risk and have established reserves to cover these self-insured liabilities. We also maintain insurance to
cover liabilities in excess of these self-insurance amounts. Claims reserves represent accruals for the estimated
uninsured portion of reported claims, including adverse development of reported claims, as well as estimates of
incurred but not reported claims. Reported claims and related loss reserves are estimated by third party administrators,
and we refer to these estimates in establishing our reserves. Claims incurred but not reported are estimated based on
our historical experience and industry trends, which are continually monitored, and accruals are adjusted when
warranted by changes in facts and circumstances. In establishing our reserves we take into account and estimate
various factors, including, but not limited to, assumptions concerning the nature and severity of the claim, the effect of
the jurisdiction on any award or settlement, the length of time until ultimate resolution, inflation rates in health care,
and in general interest rates, legal expenses, and other factors. Our actual experience may be different than our
estimates, sometimes significantly. Changes in assumptions as well as changes in actual experience could cause these
estimates to change. Insurance and claims expense will vary from period to period based on the severity and frequency
of claims incurred in a given period.  The administrative expenses associated with these reserves are expensed when
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incurred.

Litigation

Liabilities for loss contingencies arising from claims, assessments, litigation, fines and penalties and other sources, are
recorded when it is probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount of the assessment and/or remediation
can be reasonably estimated. Legal costs incurred in connection with loss contingencies are expensed as incurred.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
June 30, 2015, 2014, and 2013

Revenue Recognition

Trucking revenue and related direct costs are recognized on the date freight is delivered to the customer and
collectability is reasonably assured. Prior to commencement of shipment, the Company's subsidiaries will negotiate an
agreed upon price for services to be rendered.

Advertising

Advertising costs are expensed as incurred by the Company. Advertising expense primarily consists of recruiting for
new drivers.  Advertising expenses for fiscal 2015, 2014, and 2013 were $5.2 million, $3.2 million, and $2.9 million,
respectively, and are included in salaries, wages, and employee benefits and other operating expenses in the
consolidated statements of operations.

Income Taxes

Deferred taxes are recognized for tax loss and credit carryforwards and the future tax effects of temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial and income tax reporting, based on enacted tax
laws and rates. Federal income taxes are provided on the portion of the income of foreign subsidiaries that is expected
to be remitted to the United States.

The Company follows ASC Topic 740-10-25 Income Taxes, in accounting for uncertainty in income taxes.  ASC
740-10-25 prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition and
measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return.  The Company recognizes the financial
statement effects of a tax position when it is more likely than not, based on the technical merits, that the position will
be sustained upon examination.

Accounting for Derivatives

In previous years, the Company has had derivative financial instruments in place to reduce currency exposure for the
Mexican peso and has at times had derivative financial instruments in place to reduce exposure to fuel price
fluctuations and currency exposure for Canadian dollars. Derivative gains/(losses), initially reported as a component
of other comprehensive income with an offset to accrued liabilities or other assets, are reclassified to earnings in the
period when the forecasted transaction affects earnings. ASC Topic 815, Derivatives and Hedging, requires that all
derivative instruments be recorded on the balance sheet at their respective fair values.

Earnings per Share ("EPS")

The Company applies the provisions of ASC Topic 260, Earnings per Share, which requires companies to present
basic EPS and diluted EPS. Basic EPS excludes dilution and is computed by dividing income available to common
stockholders by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding for the period. Diluted EPS reflects the
dilution that could occur if securities or other contracts to issue common stock were exercised or converted into
common stock or resulted in the issuance of common stock that then shared in the earnings of the Company. Dilutive
common stock options are included in the diluted EPS calculation using the treasury stock method.

Stock-based Employee Compensation Plans
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The Company applies the provisions of ASC Topic 718, Compensation – Stock Compensation, which requires
companies to recognize the grant date fair value of stock options and other equity-based compensation issued to
employees in its consolidated statement of operations.

Foreign Currency Translation

Foreign financial statements are translated into U.S. dollars in accordance with ASC Topic 830, Foreign Currency
Matters. Assets and liabilities of the Company's foreign operations are translated into U.S. dollars at year-end
exchange rates. Statement of operations accounts are translated at the average exchange rate prevailing during the
year. Resulting translation adjustments are included in other comprehensive income.

Business Combinations.

Assets acquired and liabilities assumed as part of a business acquisition are generally recorded at their fair value at the
date of acquisition in accordance with ASC Topic 805 Business Combinations. The excess of purchase price over the
fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed is recorded as goodwill. Determining fair value of identifiable
assets, particularly intangibles, and liabilities acquired also requires us to make estimates, which are based on all
available information and in some cases assumptions with respect to the timing and amount of future revenues and
expenses associated with an asset. 
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June 30, 2015, 2014, and 2013

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In July 2013, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued ASU No. 2013-11, "Taxes (ASC Topic
740): Presentation of an Unrecognized Tax Benefit When a Net Operating Loss Carryforward, a Similar Tax Loss, or
a Tax Credit Carryforward Exists ("ASU 2013-11"), which applies to all entities that have unrecognized tax benefits
when a net operating loss carryforward, a similar tax loss, or a tax credit carryforward exists at the reporting date. The
amendments in this update do not require new recurring disclosures, but only provides additional explicit guidance on
the financial statement presentation. The amendment became effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within
those years, beginning after December 15, 2013. The adoption of this guidance has not had a material impact on our
consolidated financial statements.

In August 2015, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued ASU No. 2015-14 deferring the effective
date of ASU No. 2014-09, "Revenue from Contracts with Customers” which requires the recognition of revenue to
depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the
entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. This guidance will affect any organization that
either enters into contracts with customers to transfer goods or services or enters into contracts for the transfer of
non-financial assets. This ASU is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those years, beginning on or
after December 15, 2017, and early adoption will be permitted. The Company is continuing to evaluate the new
guidance and plans to provide additional information about its expected financial impact at a future date.

(2) PROPERTY, EQUIPMENT, AND LEASES

Property and equipment as of June 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively, consists of the following (in thousands):

2015 2014
Revenue
equipment
owned $ 325,859 $ 318,533
Revenue
equipment
under capital
leases 478,606 243,519
Furniture and
office
equipment 12,516 11,498
Land and
buildings 112,533 64,987
Service
equipment 2,345 1,245
Leasehold
improvements 4,117 4,106

$ 935,976 $ 643,888

Included in accumulated depreciation was $54.8 million and $55.8 million in 2015 and 2014, respectively, related to
revenue equipment under capital leases.
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(3)           LEASE OBLIGATIONS AND LONG-TERM DEBT

Lease Obligations

The Company leases certain revenue and service equipment under long-term lease agreements, payable in monthly
installments.

Equipment obtained under a capital lease is reflected on the Company's consolidated balance sheet and the related
lease bears interest at rates ranging from 1.4% to 3.6% per annum, maturing at various dates through 2022.

Assets held under operating leases are not recorded on the Company's consolidated balance sheet. The Company
leases revenue and service equipment under non-cancellable operating leases expiring at various dates through
December 2018.

The Company leases warehouse and office space under non-cancellable operating leases expiring at various dates
through July 2017. Certain real estate leases contain renewal options.

44

Edgar Filing: CELADON GROUP INC - Form 10-K

81



Table of Contents
CELADON GROUP, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
June 30, 2015, 2014, and 2013

Total rental expense under operating leases was as follows for 2015, 2014, and 2013 (in thousands):

2015 2014 2013
Revenue
and service
equipment $ 9,109 $ 6,351 $ 6,973
Office
facilities
and
terminals 5,041 3,353 2,386

$ 14,150 $ 9,704 $ 9,359

Future minimum lease payments relating to capital leases and to operating leases with initial or remaining terms in
excess of one year are as follows (in thousands):

Year ended
June 30,

Capital
Leases

Operating
Leases

2016 $ 71,901 $ 13,945
2017 73,832 2,153
2018 180,227 1,539
2019 60,519 6,261
2020 34,423 ---
Thereafter 35,007 ---
Total
minimum
lease
payments $ 455,909 $ 23,898
Less amounts
representing
interest 26,465
Present value
of minimum
lease
payments $ 429,444
Less current
maturities 62,992
Non-current
portion $ 366,452

The Company is obligated for lease residual value guarantees of $13.1 million, with $7.1 million due in fiscal 2016.
The guarantees are included in the future minimum lease payments above. To the extent the expected value at lease
termination date is lower than the residual value guarantee; we would accrue for the difference over the remaining
lease term.  As of June 30, 2015, the Company believes the expected value at lease termination date is greater than the
residual value guarantee.

Debt
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The Company had debt, excluding its line of credit, of $1.8 million at June 30, 2015, of which $0.9 million is
classified as current, compared to $3.0 million at June 30, 2014, of which $1.4 million was classified as current. Debt
includes revenue equipment installment notes of $1.8 million with an average interest rate of 4.4 percent at June 30,
2015 due in monthly installments with final maturities at various dates through June 2019.

Line of Credit

In December 2010, the Company entered into a five-year revolving credit facility agented by Bank of America, N.A.
The facility refinanced our previous credit facility and provides for ongoing working capital needs and general
corporate purposes. Bank of America, N.A. served as the lead agent in the facility and Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. also
participated in the new facility. In December 2014, the Company increased its credit facility and extended the
maturity. At June 30, 2015, the Company was authorized to borrow up to $300.0 million under this credit facility,
which expires December 2019. The applicable interest rate under this agreement is based on either a base rate equal to
Bank of America, N.A.'s prime rate or LIBOR plus an applicable margin between 0.825% and 1.45% that is adjusted
quarterly based on our lease adjusted total debt to EBITDAR ratio. At June 30, 2015, the credit facility had an
outstanding balance of $132.4 million and $1.7 million utilized for letters of credit compared to an outstanding
balance of $73.9 million and $0.8 million utilized for letters of credit as of June 30, 2015. The facility is collateralized
by the assets of all the U.S. and Canadian subsidiaries of the Company. The Company is obligated to comply with
certain financial covenants under the credit agreement and the Company was in compliance with these covenants at
June 30, 2015.
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(4)           EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

401(k) Profit Sharing Plan

The Company has a 401(k) profit sharing plan, which permits U.S. employees of the Company to contribute up to
50% of their annual compensation, up to certain Internal Revenue Service limits, on a pretax basis. The contributions
made by each employee are fully vested immediately and are not subject to forfeiture. The Company makes a
discretionary matching contribution of up to 50% of the employee's contribution up to 5% of their annual
compensation. Employees vest in the Company's contribution to the plan at the rate of 20% per year from the date of
employment anniversary. Contributions made by the Company during fiscal 2015, 2014, and 2013 amounted to
$358,000, $278,000, and $202,000, respectively.

(5) STOCK PLANS

All share-based payments to employees, including grants of employee stock options, are recognized in the financial
statements based upon a grant-date fair value of an award.

In January 2006, stockholders approved the 2006 Omnibus Incentive Plan ("2006 Plan") that provides various vehicles
to compensate the Company's key employees. The 2006 Plan utilizes such vehicles as stock options, restricted stock
grants, and stock appreciation rights ("SARs"). The 2006 Plan authorized the Company to grant 1,687,500 shares. In
November 2008, an additional 1,000,000 shares were authorized under an amendment to the 2006 Plan.  In December
2013, a second amendment to the plan was approved by stockholders authorizing an additional 750,000 shares to be
available for grant under the 2006 plan. The Company granted restricted stock grants covering 181,894 shares in fiscal
2015, 148,500 shares in fiscal 2014, and 189,413 shares in fiscal 2013.  As of June 30, 2015, the Company is
authorized to grant an additional 553,352 shares.

The total compensation cost that has been recorded for such stock-based awards was an expense of $2.8 million in
fiscal 2015, $2.1 million in fiscal 2014, and $3.9 million in fiscal 2013. The total income tax benefit recognized in the
statement of operations for share-based compensation arrangements was $1.9 million in fiscal 2015, $1.1 million in
fiscal 2014, and $1.9 million in fiscal 2013.

The Company has granted a number of stock options under various plans. Options granted to employees have been
granted with an exercise price equal to the market price on the grant date and expire on the tenth anniversary of the
grant date. The majority of options granted to employees vest 25 percent per year, commencing with the first
anniversary of the grant date. Under the 2006 Plan options have been granted with an exercise price equal to the
market price on the grant date, vest over three years for non-employee directors and four years with respect to all other
grants, commencing with the first anniversary of the grant date, and expire on the tenth anniversary of the grant date.

A summary of the activity of the Company's stock option plans as of June 30, 2015, 2014, and 2013 and changes
during the fiscal years then ended is presented below:

Options Shares
Weighted-Average
Exercise Price

Weighted-Average
Remaining
Contractual

Term

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value
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Outstanding at June
30, 2012 1,362,290 $ 10.63 5.1 $ 7,829,713
Granted --- ---
Forfeited or expired (17,925 ) $ 13.77
Exercised (195,575 ) $ 9.57
Outstanding at June
30, 2013 1,148,790 $ 10.76 4.1 $ 8,606,841
Granted --- ---
Forfeited or expired (8,500 ) $ 13.88
Exercised (235,192 ) $ 12.60
Outstanding at June
30, 2014 905,098 $ 10.25 3.5 $ 10,018,958
Granted --- ---
Forfeited or expired --- ---
Exercised (609,309 ) $ 10.63
Outstanding at June
30, 2015 295,789 $ 9.47 2.6 $ 3,316,030
Exercisable at June
30, 2015 295,789 $ 9.47 2.6 $ 3,316,030
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The total intrinsic value of options exercised during fiscal 2015, 2014, and 2013 was $8.4 million, $1.9 million, and
$2.0 million, respectively.

As of June 30, 2015, we have no unrecognized compensation expense related to stock options.

Restricted Shares

Number of
Shares

Weighted-Average
Grant Date Fair

Value
Unvested at
June 30, 2012 453,425 $ 12.36
Granted 189,413 $ 18.58
Forfeited (24,437 ) $ 11.33
Vested (262,438) $ 12.64
Unvested at
June 30, 2013 355,963 $ 15.75
Granted 148,500 $ 22.13
Forfeited (16,975 ) $ 13.49
Vested (130,783) $ 14.75
Unvested at
June 30, 2014 356,705 $ 18.88
Granted 181,894 $ 22.75
Forfeited (8,784 ) $ 18.85
Vested (133,449) $ 17.53
Unvested at
June 30, 2015 396,366 $ 21.13

Restricted shares granted to employees have been granted subject to achievement of certain time-based targets and
vest evenly over a four or five-year period, commencing with the first anniversary of the grant date.

As of June 30, 2015, we had $7.0 million of total unrecognized compensation expense related to restricted shares that
is expected to be recognized over the remaining weighted average period of approximately 2.7 years.

(6) STOCK REPURCHASE PROGRAMS

On August 25, 2010, the Company's Board of Directors authorized a stock repurchase program pursuant to which the
Company is authorized to repurchase up to 2,000,000 shares of our common stock. The Company has not repurchased
any shares of the Company's common stock under this program.
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(7)           EARNINGS PER SHARE

The following is a reconciliation of the numerators and denominators used in computing earnings per share (in
thousands except per share amounts):

2015 2014 2013

Net income $ 37,217 $ 30,681 $ 27,264
Basic earnings per share:
Weighted - average
number of common shares
outstanding 23,844 23,014 22,641
Basic earnings per share $ 1.56 $ 1.33 $ 1.20
Diluted earnings per share:
Weighted - average
number of common shares
outstanding 23,844 23,014 22,641
Effect of stock options and
other incremental shares 627 741 752
Weighted - average
number of common shares
outstanding – diluted 24,471 23,755 23,393
Diluted earnings per share $ 1.52 $ 1.29 $ 1.17

The Company has grants that remain outstanding covering zero options in fiscal 2015 and 2014, and 39,150 options in
fiscal 2013 that could potentially dilute basic earnings per share that were excluded from the EPS calculation as they
were anti-dilutive in the respective years.

(8) COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

The Company is party to certain lawsuits in the ordinary course of business. The Company is not currently party to
any proceedings which we believe will have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial position or
operations. Its subsidiary has been named as the defendant in Wilmoth et al. v. Celadon Trucking Services, Inc., a
class action proceeding. A summary judgment was recently granted in favor of the plaintiffs. The Company has
appealed this judgment. The Company believes that it will be successful on appeal, but that it is also reasonably
possible the judgment will be upheld. The Company estimates the possible range of financial exposure associated with
this claim to be between $0 and approximately $5 million. The Company currently does not have a contingency
reserved for this claim, but will continue to monitor the progress of this claim to determine if a reserve is necessary in
the future.

The Company has been named as the defendant in Day et al. v. Celadon Trucking Services, Inc., a class action
proceeding. A judgment was recently granted in favor of the plaintiffs. The Company has appealed this judgment. The
Company believes that it will be successful on appeal, but that it is also reasonably possible the judgment will be
upheld. The Company estimates the possible range of financial exposure associated with this claim to be between $0
and approximately $2 million. The Company currently does not have a contingency reserved for this claim, but will
continue to monitor the progress of this claim to determine if a reserve is necessary in the future.
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The Company had outstanding commitments to purchase approximately $60.7 million of revenue equipment at June
30, 2015.

Standby letters of credit, not reflected in the accompanying consolidated financial statements, aggregated to
approximately $1.7 million at June 30, 2015.  In addition, at June 30, 2015, 500,000 treasury shares were held in a
trust as collateral for self-insurance reserves.

(9)           INCOME TAXES

The income tax provision for operations in fiscal 2015, 2014, and 2013, consisted of the following (in thousands):

2015 2014 2013
Current:
Federal $ (7,476 ) $ 12,958 $ (3,127 )
State and local (2,634 ) 1,013 (2,110 )
Foreign (1,636 ) 509 2,180
Total current $ (11,746) $ 14,480 $ (3,057 )
Deferred:
Federal 21,869 3,703 16,122
State and local 3,807 576 3,145
Foreign 6,715 931 1,261
Total deferred 32,391 5,210 20,528
Total $ 20,645 $ 19,690 $ 17,471
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No benefit or expense has been recognized for U.S. federal income taxes on current undistributed earnings of foreign
subsidiaries of approximately $10.9 million, $3.8 million, and $4.3 million at June 30, 2015, 2014, and 2013,
respectively.  This exception is allowable under ASC 740-30-50-2.

The Company's income tax expense varies from the statutory federal tax rate of 35% applied to income before income
taxes as follows (in thousands):

2015 2014 2013

Computed "expected"
income tax expense $ 20,255 $ 17,630 $ 15,484
State taxes, net of federal
benefit 763 1,033 676
Non-deductible expenses 818 1,705 383
Foreign tax rate
differential (479 ) (383 ) 364
Other, net (712 ) (295 ) 564
Actual income tax expense $ 20,645 $ 19,690 $ 17,471

The tax effect of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of the deferred tax assets and liabilities at
June 30, 2015 and 2014 consisted of the following (in thousands):

2015 2014
Deferred tax assets:
Deferred equity compensation $ 862 $ 1,755
Insurance reserves 4,328 4,167
Other 5,195 4,998
Total deferred tax assets $ 10,385 $ 10,920

Deferred tax liabilities:
Property and equipment $ (104,186) $ (72,235)
Goodwill (4,442 ) (5,742 )
Other (2,920 ) (1,567 )
Total deferred tax liabilities $ (111,548) $ (79,544)

Net current deferred tax assets $ 7,083 $ 7,651
Net non-current deferred tax
liabilities (108,246) (76,275)
Total net deferred tax liabilities $ (101,163) $ (68,624)

As of June 30, 2015, the Company had operating loss carryforwards for income tax purposes of $12.5 million, which
have expiration dates in 2031 and after.

The Company follows ASC Topic 740-10-25 Income Taxes in accounting for uncertainty in income taxes.  Topic
740-10-25 prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition and
measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return.  As of June 30, 2015 and June 30, 2014,
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the Company recorded a $0.5 million liability in each year for unrecognized tax benefits, a portion of which represents
penalties and interest.  The only periods subject to examination for our federal returns are the 2011, 2012, and 2013
tax years.

(10) SEGMENT INFORMATION AND SIGNIFICANT CUSTOMERS

We have two reportable segments comprised of our two operating segments, an asset based segment and an asset light
segment. Our asset based segment includes our asset based dry van carrier and rail services, which are geographically
diversified but have similar economic and other relevant characteristics, as they all provide truckload carrier services
of general commodities to a similar class of customers. Our asset light segment consists of our warehousing,
brokerage, and less-than-load ("LTL") operations, which we have determined qualifies as a reportable segment under
ASC 280-10 Segment Reporting.
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Fiscal Year Ended
June 30,

(Dollars in thousands)
2015 2014 2013

Total revenues
Asset based $ 810,208 $ 706,726 $ 569,688
Asset light 90,548 52,585 43,960

900,756 759,311 613,648
Operating income
Asset based 54,824 34,179 45,190
Asset light 10,961 5,255 3,482

65,785 39,434 48,672
Depreciation and
amortization
Asset based 75,317 64,579 57,580
Asset light --- --- ---

75,317 64,579 57,580
Interest income
Asset based --- --- ---

Interest expense
Asset based 7,776 5,071 4,931

Income before taxes
Asset based 51,474 29,121 40,259
Asset light 6,388 21,250 4,476

57,862 50,371 44,735
Goodwill
Asset based 53,989 21,442 16,362
Asset light 1,368 1,368 1,368

55,357 22,810 17,730
Total assets
Asset based 1,167,633 684,548 635,968
Asset light 8,056 6,267 5,194

1,175,689 690,815 641,162

Information as to the Company's operations by geographic area is summarized below (in thousands). The Company
allocates total revenue based on the country of origin of the tractor hauling the freight.

2015 2014 2013
Total revenue:
United States $ 753,208 $ 609,512 $ 534,463
Canada 102,106 115,678 48,667
Mexico 45,442 34,121 30,518
Total $ 900,756 $ 759,311 $ 613,648
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Long-lived assets:
United States $ 756,393 $ 439,043 $ 479,852
Canada 76,025 65,719 30,094
Mexico 25,100 18,868 13,828
Total $ 857,518 $ 523,630 $ 523,774
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No customer accounted for more than 10% of the Company's total revenue during its three most recent fiscal years.

(11)           FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

ASC 820-10 Fair Value Measurement defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value in United
States generally accepted accounting principles, and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. This standard
establishes a three-level hierarchy for fair value measurements based upon the significant inputs used to determine fair
value. Observable inputs are those which are obtained from market participants external to the Company while
unobservable inputs are generally developed internally, utilizing management's estimates assumptions, and specific
knowledge of the nature of the assets or liabilities and related markets. The three levels are defined as follows:

Level 1 – Inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Company has
the ability to access at the measurement date. An active market is defined as a market in which transactions for the
assets or liabilities occur with sufficient frequency and volume to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis.

Level 2 – Inputs include quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets, quoted prices for identical or
similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active (markets with few transactions), inputs other than quoted
prices that are observable for the asset or liability (i.e., interest rates, yield curves, etc.), and inputs that are derived
principally from or corroborated by observable market data correlation or other means (market corroborated inputs).

Level 3 – Unobservable inputs, only used to the extent that observable inputs are not available, reflect the Company's
assumptions about the pricing of an asset or liability (in thousands).

Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Balance

at
June
30,
2015

Balance
at
June
30,
2014

Balance
at
June
30,
2015

Balance
at
June
30,
2014

Balance
at
June
30,
2015

Balance
at
June
30,
2014

Balance
at
June
30,
2015

Balance
at
June
30,
2014

Foreign currency
derivatives --- $35 --- --- --- $35 --- ---

Fuel derivatives --- --- --- --- --- --- --- ---

The Company pays a fixed contract rate for foreign currency.  The fair value of foreign currency forward contracts is
based on the valuation model that discounts cash flows resulting from the differential between the contract price and
the market-based forward rate.

(12)           FUEL DERIVATIVES

In our day to day business activities we are exposed to certain market risks, including the effects of changes in fuel
prices. We review new ways to reduce the potentially adverse effects that the volatility of fuel markets may have on
operating results. In an effort to reduce the variability of the ultimate cash flows associated with fluctuations in diesel
fuel prices, we may enter into futures contracts. These instruments will be heating oil futures contracts as the related
index, New York Mercantile Exchange ("NYMEX"), generally exhibits high correlation with the changes in the
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dollars of the forecasted purchase of diesel fuel. We do not engage in speculative transactions, nor do we hold or issue
financial instruments for trading purposes.

As of June 30, 2015, we had no future contracts pertaining to heating oil outstanding. Previously under such contracts,
we would pay a fixed rate per gallon of heating oil and receive the monthly average price of New York heating oil per
the NYMEX. We previously had done retrospective and prospective regression analyses that showed the changes in
the prices of diesel fuel and heating oil were deemed to be highly correlated based on the relevant authoritative
guidance. Accordingly, we had designated the respective hedges as cash flow hedges.
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We performed both a prospective and retrospective assessment of the effectiveness of our hedge contracts at inception
and quarterly. If our analysis had shown that the derivatives were not highly effective as hedges, we would have
discontinued hedge accounting for the period and prospectively recognized changes in the fair value of the derivatives
through earnings.

We recognized all derivative instruments at fair value on our consolidated condensed balance sheets in other assets or
other accrued expenses. Our derivative instruments were designated as cash flow hedges, thus the effective portion of
the gain or loss on the derivative was reported as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income and was
reclassified into earnings in the same period during which the hedged transactions affected earnings.

(13)           SELECTED QUARTERLY DATA (Unaudited)

Summarized quarterly data for fiscal 2015 and 2014 follows (in thousands except per share amounts):

Fiscal Year 2015
1st Qtr. 2nd Qtr. 3rd Qtr. 4th Qtr.

Total revenues $ 193,416 $ 222,371 $ 231,702 $ 253,267
Operating expenses 179,948 206,802 216,374 231,846

Operating income 13,468 15,569 15,328 21,421
Other expense, net 1,092 1,969 2,066 2,797

Income before taxes 12,376 13,600 13,262 18,624
Income tax expense 4,329 5,057 4,670 6,589

Net income $ 8,047 $ 8,543 $ 8,592 $ 12,035

Basic income per
share $ 0.35 $ 0.37 $ 0.37 $ 0.48
Diluted income per
share $ 0.34 $ 0.36 $ 0.36 $ 0.47

Fiscal Year 2014
1st Qtr. 2nd Qtr. 3rd Qtr. 4th Qtr.

Total revenues $ 175,102 $ 193,595 $ 193,228 $ 197,386
Operating expenses 163,570 184,652 186,446 185,208

Operating income 11,532 8,943 6,782 12,178
Other expense
(income), net 983 1,100 1,053 (14,072 )

Income before taxes 10,549 7,843 5,729 26,250
Income tax expense 3,983 2,717 2,247 10,743
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Net income $ 6,566 $ 5,126 $ 3,482 $ 15,507

Basic income  per
share $ 0.29 $ 0.22 $ 0.15 $ 0.67
Diluted income  per
share $ 0.28 $ 0.22 $ 0.15 $ 0.65
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(14)           ACQUISITIONS

Material acquisitions for the year ended June 30, 2015

On October 24, 2014, we acquired the outstanding membership interests of A&S Services Group, LLC ("A&S") in
New Freedom, PA for $55.0 million. We acquired trade receivables and other current assets of $19.3 million, property
and equipment of $79.2 million, identifiable intangible assets of $4.5 million, and goodwill of $10.2 million and
assumed $52.2 million in debt including capital leases and $6.0 million of various other liabilities.  The property and
equipment includes tractors, trailers, buildings, and land that we intend to operate for the foreseeable future. We used
borrowings under our existing credit facility to fund the purchase price. The purposes of the acquisition were to offer
employment opportunities to A&S drivers and continue dry-van, warehouse, and brokerage services for the A&S
customers.

Results of the acquired business have been included in our consolidated financial statements since the date of
acquisition.  The amount of revenue and earnings generated by A&S is impracticable to discern due to the way we
integrated the acquired company since acquisition.

The following unaudited pro forma consolidated results of operations for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2015, 2014,
and 2013 assume that the acquisition of A&S occurred as of July 1, 2012 (in thousands).

(Unaudited)
Years ended

June 30,
2015

Jun 30,
2014

June 30,
2013

Total revenue $ 944,511 $ 868,537 $ 695,986
Net income $ 37,650 $ 32,706 $ 29,451

The supplemental unaudited pro forma financial information above is presented for information purposes only. It is
not necessarily indicative of what the Company's financial position or results of operations actually would have been
had the Company completed the acquisitions at the dates indicated, nor is it intended to project the future financial
position or operating results of the combined company.

Immaterial acquisitions for the year ended June 30, 2015

On September 3, 2014, we acquired certain assets of Furniture Row Express, LLC ("FRE") in Denver, CO for $10.0
million. We used borrowings under our existing credit facility to fund the purchase price. The purposes of the
acquisition were to offer employment opportunities to FRE drivers and continue dry-van and temperature-controlled
services for the FRE customers.

On December 12, 2014, we acquired the stock of Bee Line, Inc. ("Bee Line") in Ottoville, OH for $4.5 million. We
used borrowings under our existing credit facility to fund the purchase price. The purposes of the acquisition were to
offer employment opportunities to Bee Line drivers and continue dry-van services for the Bee Line customers.

On January 20, 2015, we acquired the stock of Taylor Express, Inc. ("Taylor") in Hope Mills, NC for $50.6 million.
The purposes of the acquisition were to offer employment opportunities to Taylor drivers and continue dry-van and
dry bulk services for the Taylor customers. The recorded amounts of assets acquired in this transaction are subject to
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change upon the finalization of our determination of acquisition date fair values.

The three acquisitions above were determined to be immaterial individually and in the aggregate.

The assets and liabilities acquired were recorded at fair value at the time of acquisition. The goodwill recorded for
each acquisition relates to anticipated future cash flows and operating efficiencies.

Acquisitions for the year ended June 30, 2014

On August 26, 2013, we acquired certain assets and assumed certain liabilities of Houg, LLC ("Houg") in Denver,
CO. We used borrowings under our existing line of credit to fund the purchase price. The purposes of the acquisition
were to offer employment opportunities to Houg drivers and continue dry-van and temperature-controlled services for
the Houg customers.

On August 26, 2013, we acquired certain assets and assumed certain liabilities of Land Span Motor Equipment, Inc.
("Land Span") in Lakeland, FL for $5.4 million. We used borrowings under our existing line of credit to fund the
purchase price. The purposes of the acquisition were to offer employment opportunities to Land Span drivers and
continue dry-van services for the Land Span customers.

On September 13, 2013, we acquired the stock of TCI Logistics, Inc. ("TCI") in Kernersville, NC for $2.9 million. We
used borrowings under our existing line of credit to fund the purchase price. The purposes of the acquisition were to
continue employment of TCI drivers and continue dry-van services for the TCI customers.
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On September 16, 2013, we acquired certain assets and assumed certain liabilities of Hoss Cartage & Distribution
Systems, Inc. ("Hoss") in Ayr, Ontario, Canada for $1.2 million. We used borrowings under our existing line of credit
to fund the purchase price. The purposes of the acquisition were to offer employment opportunities to Hoss drivers
and continue dry-van services for the Hoss customers. Additionally, on November 13, 2013, we purchased land and a
building from Hoss for $1.8 million.

On November 1, 2013, we acquired the stock of Osborn Transportation, Inc. ("Osborn") in Gadsden, AL for $21.0
million, including $5.5 million to be paid out in future payments. We used borrowings under our existing line of credit
to fund the purchase price. The purposes of the acquisition were to continue employment of Osborn drivers and
continue dry-van services for the Osborn customers.

On November 15, 2013, we acquired certain assets and assumed certain liability of N. Yanke Transfer Ltd. ("Yanke")
in Saskatchewan, Canada for $17.9 million. We used borrowings under our existing line of credit to fund the purchase
price. The purposes of the acquisition were to continue employment of Yanke drivers and continue dry-van services
for the Yanke customers.

On June 24, 2014, we acquired certain assets and assumed certain liabilities of Evans Group, Inc. ("Evans") in Butler,
IN. We used borrowings under our existing line of credit to fund the purchase price. The purposes of the acquisition
were to offer employment opportunities to Evans drivers and continue dry-van and flatbed services for the Evans
customers.

The above acquisitions were determined to be immaterial individually and in the aggregate.

(15)           GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The acquired intangible assets relate to customer relations and trade names acquired through acquisitions in fiscal
2015 and 2014.  All acquired intangible assets relate to our asset based business. The intangible assets acquired will be
amortized on a straight-line basis through 2041 (dollar amounts below in thousands).

Intangibles
June
30,
2014

Current
year

Additions
June 30,
2015

Gross carrying
amount $ 650 $ 7,446 $ 8,096
Amortization 237 811 1,048
Net carrying amount $ 413 $ 8,257 $ 7,048

The additions to goodwill relate to the A&S, Bee Line, and Taylor acquisitions of $10.2 million, $2.0 million, and
$20.4 million respectively.  The A&S and Taylor related goodwill is tax deductible (dollar amounts below in
thousands).

Goodwill

June 30,
2014

Current
year

additions
June 30,
2015
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Asset based $ 21,442 $ 32,547 $ 53,989
Asset light 1,368 --- 1,368
Total Goodwill $ 22,810 $ 32,547 $ 55,357
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(16)           GAIN ON DISPOSITION OF EQUIPMENT

We routinely sell equipment to Element Financial Corp. ("Element") under our agreement with Element for use by
independent contractors. Total net sales proceeds of units purchased with the intent to sell during the fiscal year ended
June 30, 2015 were $329.0 million. In accordance with ASC 605-45, we recorded these transactions on a net basis as
an agent versus grossing up the sales in revenue and costs of goods sold as a principal. The net gain as a result of these
transactions in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2015 was $21.5 million.  We had sales of previously operated Celadon
units to Element of $65.3 million for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2015 compared to $76.5M for the fiscal year
ended June 30, 2014.  All sales to Element for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2014 consisted entirely of previously
operated Celadon units.

(17)           RECLASSIFICATION AND ADJUSTMENTS

Certain items in the fiscal 2014 and fiscal 2013 consolidated financial statements have been reclassified to conform to
the current presentation.  The reclassifications had no impact on earnings.
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SCHEDULE II

CELADON GROUP, INC.
VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

Years ended June 30, 2015, 2014, and 2013

Description

Balance at
Beginning of

Period

Charged to
Costs and
Expenses Deductions

Balance at
End of
Period

Year ended June
30, 2013:
Allowance for
doubtful accounts $ 1,006,689 $ 0 $ 87,880 (a) $ 918,809
Reserves for
claims payable as
self-insurer $ 11,343,069 $ 14,669,698 $ 14,783,848(b) $ 11,228,919

Year ended June
30, 2014:
Allowance for
doubtful accounts $ 918,809 $ 100,000 $ 76,689 (a) $ 942,120
Reserves for
claims payable as
self-insurer $ 11,228,919 $ 14,892,657 $ 13,126,649(b) $ 12,994,927

Year ended June
30, 2015:
Allowance for
doubtful accounts $ 942,120 $ 240,116 $ 180,151 (a) $ 1,002,085
Reserves for
claims payable as
self-insurer $ 12,994,927 $ 22,371,877 $ 19,750,176(b) $ 15,616,628

(a) Represents accounts receivable net write-offs.
(b) Represents claims paid.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed
in our reports filed or submitted to the SEC under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the Exchange
Act), is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified by the SEC's rules and forms,
and that information is accumulated and communicated to management, including the principal executive and
financial officers (referred to in this report as the Certifying Officers), as appropriate, to allow timely decisions
regarding required disclosure based on the definition of "disclosure controls and procedures" in Rule 13a-15(b) under
the Exchange Act. In designing and evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures, management recognizes that
any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of
achieving the desired control objectives, and management is required to apply judgment in evaluating our controls and
procedures.

Based upon that Evaluation, our Certifying Officers have concluded that, as of June 30, 2015, the Company's
disclosure controls and procedures are effective.

Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting (as
defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act). Management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control
over financial reporting as of June 30, 2015, using criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework
(1992) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).  In making this
assessment management used the criteria set forth by COSO in Internal Control—Integrated Framework (1992).  As
permitted by SEC guidance, management excluded from its assessment the operations of the A&S and Taylor
acquisitions made during fiscal 2015, which are described in note 14 of the consolidated financial statements.  The
total assets of the entities acquired in these acquisition represents approximately 11.3% of the Company’s total
consolidated assets, net of goodwill, as of June 30, 2015.  Based on this assessment, our management has concluded
that as of June 30, 2015, our internal control over financial reporting is effective based on those criteria.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements.  Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies
and procedures may deteriorate.

The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of June 30, 2015 has been audited by BKD LLP,
an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their attestation report.  See "Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data" under Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for BKD LLP's attestation report.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

The Company’s management, including the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and its Chief Financial Officer
regularly review our disclosure controls and procedures and make changes intended to ensure the quality of our
financial reporting.  On October 24, 2014, and January 20, 2015 we completed acquisitions of A&S and Taylor, and
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as a result we extended our oversight and monitoring process that support our internal control over financial reporting
during the Company’s 2015 fiscal year to include the operations of A&S and Taylor. Otherwise, there were no changes
in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the most recently completed fiscal year that have
materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information

None.
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PART III

Certain information required to be set forth in Part III of this report is incorporated by reference to our definitive
Proxy Statement, which will be filed with the SEC not later than 120 days after the end of the fiscal year covered by
this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Only those sections of the definitive Proxy Statement which specifically address
the items set forth herein are incorporated by reference. Such incorporation does not include the Compensation
Committee Report included in the definitive Proxy Statement.

Item 10.                 Directors, Executive Officers, and Corporate Governance

The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to our definitive Proxy Statement to be filed
in connection with the 2015 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

Item 11.                 Executive Compensation

The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to our definitive Proxy Statement to be filed
in connection with the 2015 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

Item 12.                 Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder
Matters

The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to our definitive Proxy Statement to be filed
in connection with the 2015 Annual Meeting of Stockholders. The following table provides certain information as of
June 30, 2015, with respect to our compensation plans and other arrangements under which shares of our common
stock are authorized for issuance.

Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table summarizes our equity compensation plans as of June 30, 2015:

Plan Category

(a)
Number of
securities
to be issued
upon exercise

of
outstanding
options,

warrants and
rights

(b)
Weighted-average

price of
outstanding
options,

warrants and
rights

(c)
Number of
securities
remaining
available
for future
issuance

Equity compensation plans
approved by security
holders 692,155 $16.15 553,352

Equity compensation plans
not approved by security
holders

Not
applicable Not applicable

Not
applicable

Item 13.                 Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence
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The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to our definitive Proxy Statement to be filed
in connection with the 2015 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.
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Item 14.                 Principal Accounting Fees and Services

The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to our definitive Proxy Statement to be filed
in connection with the 2015 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.
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PART IV

Item 15.                 Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

Page Number of
Annual Report on Form

10-K
(a)           List of Documents filed as part of this Report

(1)           Financial Statements

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm - BKD
LLP 33

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm -
KPMG LLP 35

Consolidated Statements of Operations 36

Consolidated Statements of  Comprehensive Income 37

Consolidated Balance Sheets 38

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 39

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity 40

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 41

(2)           Financial Statement Schedule

Schedule II - Valuation and Qualifying Accounts 56
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(b)           Exhibits (Numbered in accordance with Item 601 of Regulation S-K).

2.1 Membership Interest Purchase Agreement by and among A&S Services Group, LLC, and holders of interests
therein, and Celadon Trucking Services, Inc., dated October 24, 2014.  (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit
2.1 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on February 9, 2015.)

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company. (Incorporated by reference to the
Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ending December 31, 2005, filed with the
SEC on January 30, 2006.)

3.2 Certificate of Designation for Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock. (Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 3.3 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2000, filed with
the SEC on September 28, 2000.)

3.3 Amended and Restated By-laws of the Company.  (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.3 to the Company's
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on January 31, 2008.)

4.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company. (Incorporated by reference to the
Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ending December 31, 2005, filed with the
SEC on January 30, 2006.)

4.2 Certificate of Designation for Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock. (Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 3.3 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2000, filed with
the SEC on September 28, 2000.)

4.3 Amended and Restated By-laws of the Company.  (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.3 to the Company's
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on January 31, 2008.)

10.1 Separation Agreement dated March 3, 2000 between the Company and Paul A. Will. (Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.21 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on September
30, 2002.) *

10.2 Amendment dated September 30, 2001 to Separation Agreement between the Company and Paul A. Will
dated March 3, 2000. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.22 to the Company's Annual Report on Form
10-K filed with the SEC on September 30, 2002.) *

10.3 Celadon Group, Inc., 2006 Omnibus Incentive Plan. (Incorporated by reference to Appendix B to the
Company's definitive proxy statement, filed with the SEC on December 19, 2005.) *

10.4 Celadon Group, Inc. Form of Award Notice for Employees for Restricted Stock Awards. (Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.23 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on May 4,
2006.) *

10.5 Celadon Group, Inc. Form of Award Notice for Employees for Incentive Stock Option Grants. (Incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.25 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on May 4,
2006.) *

10.6 Celadon Group, Inc. Form of Award Notice for Non-Employee Directors for Non-Qualified Stock Option
Grants. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.26 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed
with the SEC on May 4, 2006.) *

10.7 Amendment to the Celadon Group, Inc., 2006 Omnibus Incentive Plan. (Incorporated by reference to the
Company's definitive proxy statement, filed with the SEC on October 3, 2008.) *

10.8 Service Agreement dated December 11, 2013 between the Company and Stephen Russell. (Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on February
10, 2014.) *

10.9 Program Agreement dated March 31, 2014, by and among the Company, Quality Equipment Leasing, LLC,
and Element Financial Corp. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on May 12, 2014.)

10.10 Service Agreement dated March 31, 2014, by and among the Company, Quality Equipment Leasing, LLC,
and Element Financial Corp. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company's Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on May 12, 2014.)
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10.11 Portfolio Purchase and Sale Agreement dated March 31, 2014, by and among the Company, Quality
Equipment Leasing, LLC, and Element Financial Corp. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the
Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on May 12, 2014.)
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10.12 Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated December 12, 2014, among Celadon Group, Inc., certain
subsidiaries, and Bank of America, N.A. and other lenders party thereto.  (Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on February 9, 2015.)

10.13 First Amendment to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of May 26, 2015, by and among
Celadon Group, Inc., the guarantors party thereto, the lenders party thereto, and Bank of America, N.A.,
as administrative Agent, Swing Line Lender, and L/C Issuer. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to
the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on May 27, 2015.)

21 Subsidiaries. #
23.1 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm – BKD LLP. #
23.2 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm – KPMG LLP. #
31.1 Certification pursuant to Item 601(b)(31) of Regulation S-K, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, by Paul A. Will, the Company's Chief Executive Officer. #
31.2 Certification pursuant to Item 601(b)(31) of Regulation S-K, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, by Bobby L. Peavler, the Company's Chief Financial Officer. #
32.1 Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, by Paul A. Will, the Company's Chief Executive Officer. #
32.2 Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, by Bobby L. Peavler, the Company's Chief Financial Officer. #
101.INS** XBRL Instance Document #
101.SCH**XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document #
101.CAL**XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document #
101.DEF** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document #
101.LAB**XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document #
101.PRE** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document #
_______________________
* Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
** In accordance with Regulation S-T, the XBRL-related information in Exhibit 101 shall be deemed to be

"furnished" and not "filed."
# Filed herewith.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act, the registrant has duly caused this report to
be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, this September 10, 2015.

Celadon Group, Inc.

By: /s/ Paul A. Will 
Paul A. Will
Chief Executive Officer and
Chairman of the Board

Pursuant to the requirements of the Exchange Act, this report has been signed below by the following persons on
behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date

/s/ Paul A. Will 
Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of
the Board (Principal Executive Officer)

September 10,
2015

Paul A. Will

/s/ Bobby Peavler

Executive Vice President, Chief Financial
Officer, and Treasurer (Principal Financial
Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)

September 10,
2015

Bobby Peavler

/s/ Stephen Russell Director September 10,
2015

Stephen Russell

/s/ Michael Miller Director September 10,
2015

Michael Miller

/s/ Robert Long Director September 10,
2015

Robert Long

/s/ Catherine Langham Director September 10,
2015

Catherine Langham
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EXHIBIT INDEX
Exhibit
 Number Description

2.1 Membership Interest Purchase Agreement by and among A&S Services
Group, LLC, and holders of interests therein, and Celadon Trucking Services,
Inc., dated October 24, 2014.  (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the
Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on February 9,
2015.)

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company.
(Incorporated by reference to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
for the quarterly period ending December 31, 2005, filed with the SEC on
January 30, 2006.)

3.2 Certificate of Designation for Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock.
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.3 to the Company's Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2000, filed with the SEC on
September 28, 2000.)

3.3 Amended and Restated By-laws of the Company.  (Incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 3.3 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the
SEC on January 31, 2008.)

4.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company.
(Incorporated by reference to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
for the quarterly period ending December 31, 2005, filed with the SEC on
January 30, 2006.)

4.2 Certificate of Designation for Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock.
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.3 to the Company's Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2000, filed with the SEC on
September 28, 2000.)

4.3 Amended and Restated By-laws of the Company.  (Incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 3.3 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the
SEC on January 31, 2008.)

10.1 Separation Agreement dated March 3, 2000 between the Company and Paul
A. Will. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.21 to the Company's Annual
Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on September 30, 2002.) *

10.2 Amendment dated September 30, 2001 to Separation Agreement between the
Company and Paul A. Will dated March 3, 2000. (Incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.22 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the
SEC on September 30, 2002.) *

10.3 Celadon Group, Inc., 2006 Omnibus Incentive Plan. (Incorporated by
reference to Appendix B to the Company's definitive proxy statement, filed
with the SEC on December 19, 2005.) *

10.4 Celadon Group, Inc. Form of Award Notice for Employees for Restricted
Stock Awards. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.23 to the Company's
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on May 4, 2006.) *

10.5 Celadon Group, Inc. Form of Award Notice for Employees for Incentive
Stock Option Grants. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.25 to the
Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on May 4,
2006.) *

10.6 Celadon Group, Inc. Form of Award Notice for Non-Employee Directors for
Non-Qualified Stock Option Grants. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit
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10.26 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on
May 4, 2006.) *

10.7 Amendment to the Celadon Group, Inc., 2006 Omnibus Incentive Plan.
(Incorporated by reference to the Company's definitive proxy statement, filed
with the SEC on October 3, 2008.) *

10.8 Service Agreement dated December 11, 2013 between the Company and
Stephen Russell. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on February 10, 2014.) *

10.9 Program Agreement dated March 31, 2014, by and among the Company,
Quality Equipment Leasing, LLC, and Element Financial Corp. (Incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q filed with the SEC on May 12, 2014.)

10.10 Service Agreement dated March 31, 2014, by and among the Company,
Quality Equipment Leasing, LLC, and Element Financial Corp. (Incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q filed with the SEC on May 12, 2014.)

10.11 Portfolio Purchase and Sale Agreement dated March 31, 2014, by and among
the Company, Quality Equipment Leasing, LLC, and Element Financial Corp.
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company's Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on May 12, 2014.)
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10.12 Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated December 12, 2014, among Celadon Group, Inc., certain
subsidiaries, and Bank of America, N.A. and other lenders party thereto.  (Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on February 9, 2015.)

10.13 First Amendment to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of May 26, 2015, by and among
Celadon Group, Inc., the guarantors party thereto, the lenders party thereto, and Bank of America, N.A.,
as administrative Agent, Swing Line Lender, and L/C Issuer. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to
the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on May 27, 2015.)

21 Subsidiaries. #
23.1 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm – BKD LLP. #
23.2 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm – KPMG LLP. #
31.1 Certification pursuant to Item 601(b)(31) of Regulation S-K, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, by Paul A. Will, the Company's Chief Executive Officer. #
31.2 Certification pursuant to Item 601(b)(31) of Regulation S-K, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, by Bobby L. Peavler, the Company's Chief Financial Officer. #
32.1 Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, by Paul A. Will, the Company's Chief Executive Officer. #
32.2 Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, by Bobby L. Peavler, the Company's Chief Financial Officer. #
101.INS** XBRL Instance Document #
101.SCH**XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document #
101.CAL**XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document #
101.DEF** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document #
101.LAB**XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document #
101.PRE** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document #
_______________________
* Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
** In accordance with Regulation S-T, the XBRL-related information in Exhibit 101 shall be deemed to be

"furnished" and not "filed."
# Filed herewith.
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